

Branding and Control Activities for Differentiating Generic Products

A study of 30 brands' most common activities

Master's Thesis in the Master's Programme Entrepreneurship and Business Design

ERICA DAHLGREN NURMAN

Department of Technology Management and Economics Division of Entrepreneurship and Strategy CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden 2016 Report No. E 2016:100

MASTER'S THESIS E 2016:100

Branding and Control Activities for Differentiating **Generic Products** A study of 30 brands' most common activities

ERICA DAHLGREN NURMAN

Tutor, Chalmers: Bowman Heiden Tutor, B&L: Joel Borg

Department of Technology Management and Economics Division of Entrepreneurship and Strategy CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

Gothenburg, Sweden 2016

Branding and Control Activities for Differentiating Generic Products A study of 30 brands' most common activities

ERICA DAHLGREN NURMAN

© ERICA DAHLGREN NURMAN, 2016.

Master's Thesis E 2016:100

Department of Technology Management and Economics Division of Entrepreneurship and Strategy Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Gothenburg, Sweden Telephone: + 46 (0)31-772 1000

Chalmers Reproservice Gothenburg, Sweden 2016

ABSTRACT

This thesis explores which branding-related activities are most commonly performed in order to differentiate generic products (or services). It also explores how control over such products (and services) is claimed. To formulate an answer, a literature review has been made, investigating how to differentiate products and intellectual property rights' role within branding. The importance for companies to differentiate their brands increases and ways to do so are for example to build the generic product into a concept or to add attributes such as additional features, a design that's iconic for the brand or irrelevant attributes. Brands should also incorporate intellectual property management into the creative process as all aspects in marketing can be covered by intellectual property rights, but their strength will vary. A qualitative study has been made, exploring the most common branding activities among 30 companies who all have managed to differentiate generic products (or services). Most common is to use influencers for marketing and to deviate from the product segment's norm. The study has also investigated the companies' intellectual property strategies and their control-related issues such as infringement. It shows that the need for control varies with product segment and that most companies solely rely on trademarks. Companies tend to protect aspects of their business that aren't relevant when considering their main differentiating aspects. Trade dress protection has proved to be useful in case of infringement. The result from the study has been analysed in respect to theory, clarifying which aspects of a brand that are in focus when performing the most common brand activities. Companies mainly focus on establishing their brand image. This is done by evoking associations, which also affects the company's credibility. They also focus on increasing brand awareness. There are indications on that a company's brand in itself has stronger impact than its value proposition for attracting customers.

Key words: Brand management, generic products, differentiating, commodities, controlling generic products, protecting generic products, intellectual property management and branding, brand activities, differentiation

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to thank Anna Holmberg and Bowman Heiden for their help with identifying the very core of the thesis. Also a thank you to Joel Borg for providing a project that got the author to explore the interesting subject of this thesis. Lastly, the author would like to thank everyone who has contributed to the thesis by suggesting appropriate brands for the study.

Erica Dahlgren Nurman

Table of contents

1. Introduction	
1.1 Background	
1.2 Problem statement	
1.3 Purpose	
1.3.1 Research Questions	
1.3.2 Delimitations and Assumptions	
2. Methodology	
2.1 Research Process	
2.2 Research Strategy	
2.3 Research Design	
2.3.1 Comparative Design	
2.3.2 Research Quality	
2.4 Data Collection	
2.4.1 Theoretical Sampling	
2.4.2 Sample Selection	
2.4.3 Gathering data of branding activities differentiating generic proc	
2.4.4 Gathering data of control activities for (differentiated) generic	10003.0
products	q
2.5 Data Analysis	
2.5.1 Study	
2.5.2 Comparison of gathered data and theory	
3. Theory	
3.1 Brand Equity	
3.1.1 Aaker's Brand Equity Model	
3.2 Customer-Based Brand Equity	
3.2.1 The Customer-Based Brand Equity Pyramid	
3.3 Competitive Advantage in a Knowledge-Based Economy	
3.3.1 Value acquired through knowledge	
3.4 Differentiating Commodities 3.4.1 Increased importance to differentiate	
3.5 Adding attributes to differentiate products 3.5.1 Irrelevant attributes	
3.5.2 Design attributes to establish brand identity	
3.6 Controlling knowledge	
3.6.1 Intellectual Property's role in branding	
4. Results	
4.1. Common branding activities for differentiating generic products	
4.1.1 Activities	
4.1.2 Differentiating Attributes	
4.2 Common control activities for generic products	
4.2.1 Control-related issues	
4.2.2 Protection	
4.2.2.1 Intellectual Property Rights	
4.2.2.2 Other Protection Strategies	
5. Analysis	
5.1 Analysis of Activities	35

5.2 Analysis of Differentiating Attributes	
5.3 Analysis of Protection	
6. Conclusion	
6.1 Summary of thesis procedure	
6.2 Answers to the research questions	
6.3 Risks	
7. References	

List of Figures

Figure 1: Aaker's Brand Equity Model

Figure 2: Customer-Based Brand Equity Model.

Figure 3: Different types of economies due to knowledge-addition (and control of it).

Figure 4: The six dimensions for differentiating commodities

Figure 5: Multiattribute Diminishing Sensitivity.

Figure 6: Framework for aligning design features with brand identity.

Figure 7: Results from the study, showing which activities are most common and by which brands they are performed.

Figure 8: Results showing the most common control activities, by which brands they are performed as well as their control-related issues.

1. Introduction

This chapter provides an initial explanation of generic products' contexts and a clarification of what the thesis aims to do. It also sets the scope for the thesis, with its delimitations and assumptions.

1.1 Background

With an ever-increasing amount of products and services offered on the market, companies work hard to be perceived as better (in some way) than others (Fiske and Silverstein, 2003; Williams, 2004). Traditionally better has been equal to cheaper (Hill, McGrath and Dayal, 1998). If it's impossible to offer the same perceived value as the competitors to a lower price though, the perceived value needs to change instead (Heiden, 2015). There are many different ways to change the perception of an offer's value, for example by adding technological features or through innovation. Another highly efficient tool is branding.

There are many definitions of what a brand is, some focusing on brand elements such as having a logotype or a name in order to separate one seller's product from another's (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 4). There's also a psychological layer to a brand and a brief description of it is that it's the *perception* of something such as a company, a person or an organization (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 5). Everyone has a brand, no matter whether it's managed or not. The brand gives the observer an understanding (conscious or subconscious) about what it stands for, who it is for, what it represents etc. (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 5). Branding can thus be seen as the activity of aligning people's actual perceptions with a sought perception. The goal is for people to have a shared perception of how a certain brand is differentiated from the rest and what makes it better (in some way) than others. There are not only benefits for the company in managing their brand: It also helps customers to make decisions and create expectations on what they are about to buy (Aaker, 1992, 29).

As mentioned earlier, differentiation can for example be done through innovation or by adding technological features to a product. However, if the product is a commodity and technology or functionality-related features aren't applicable, branding becomes even more crucial: Because if the price isn't lower and improved functionality isn't needed, the brand can be what separates a product from another and makes it more appealing in the eyes of the consumer (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 5).

As competition becomes more fierce, companies need to control their value propositions and prevent others from tapping into their differentiating aspects (Chasser and Wolfe, 2010). Similar to the challenges in differentiating commodities, the more generic a product is, the harder it is to protect it. A technological breakthrough can for example be patented (Uspto.gov, 2014), thereby preventing others from exploiting it but how can someone prevent others from selling a pen?

1.2 Problem statement

If offering a generic product there's a great challenge in trying to differentiate the offer. If succeeding however, there's possibly an even greater challenge in controlling those differentiating aspects.

1.3 Purpose

The purpose of this thesis is to provide concrete examples of which activities companies most commonly perform in order to differentiate their generic products (or services). The aim is also to explore which aspects of a brand that these activities are affecting, thereby giving a suggestion on which activities and brand aspects to prioritize when trying to differentiate generic products (and services). Lastly, the purpose of the thesis is to investigate how the same companies claim control over their value propositions and how successful these strategies are.

1.3.1 Research Questions

In order to fulfil the purpose of this thesis, two questions will be answered.

RQ1

Which activities are most common for differentiating generic products (or services)?

RQ2

What is common practice for claiming control over differentiated generic products (or services) and how well does it work?

1.3.2 Delimitations and Assumptions

This thesis does not take any financial aspects of brands into consideration. This means that the studied brands' respective brand values are not taken into account. If this had been included in the study, it is possible that other activities could have been proved to be more powerful than the most common ones. It is however assumed that the brand activities that are most commonly performed among companies that have managed to differentiate generic products are the activities with strongest effect - at least in relation to effort.

The companies in the study are considered successful in their branding, for example due to their brand recall depth.

The analysis is performed on the result of the study in respect to the concepts and theories presented in the literature review (and theoretical framework) only.

2. Methodology

This chapter describes the procedure for conducting the thesis. It also describes with what perspective it has been done. Continuing, the chapter declares how a literature review has been conducted and how a qualitative, comparative study has been conducted. The execution of the study is described in more detail, including how the studied objects have been chosen and how data has been gathered and analysed. The chapter also provides a discussion on the quality of the research performed in the thesis.

2.1 Research Process

While some activities have overlapped each other and been iterated, the thesis has primarily been conducted in the following order:

- 1. A literature review was made to establish definitions and views on concepts that are relevant for the thesis and to explore these concepts in the context of generic products becoming differentiated. The literature review was also conducted to understand what best practice is considered to be for intellectual property in relation to creative branding content. This is presented in Chapter 3. Theory.
- 2. As suggestions for best branding practice in the literature tend to be quite general, a comparative study of brands that have managed to differentiate generic products was conducted in order to more specifically identify which branding activities are most often performed. It was further investigated how (well) such brands manage to control their brand and business through intellectual property rights and if they use any other tools in this pursuit. This study had an inductive approach and it's assumed that the pattern among the investigated brands, due to their similarities and the number of them, correlates with other brands (meeting the same requirements). Two elements that were found in theory (irrelevant attribute and recurring design attribute) were searched for, thus using a deductive approach. This is presented in Chapter 4. Results.
- 3. A comparison of the results and theory was made in order to identify differences and similarities between the two. This is presented in Chapter 5. Analysis.
- 4. From this, a conclusion was drawn about the most common underlying intentions with the identified branding activities. A conclusion was also drawn on the brands' control situation and how they should use IPRs most efficiently. This is presented in Chapter 6. Conclusion.

2.2 Research Strategy

This thesis includes a qualitative study, which has some quantitative elements embedded into it: The author has had an abductive approach to the thesis, with an inductive approach to the actual gathering of data, except for two phenomena (*irrelevant attribute* and *recurring design attribute*) found in theory, which deductively have been searched for, lastly comparing the results with theory in the analysis.

The thesis is ontologically subjective as it investigates the world of branding and intellectual property, which are institutionalized realities and therefore, in a sense, not real unless we interpret them in a certain manner.

Being a mixed methods research, the thesis is epistemologically subjective in some cases, and objective in others (Bryman and Bell, 2003): The gathered data comes from virtual documents such as online magazine interviews, containing other people's observations and interpretations and is therefore seen as subjective. An example of this is how spokespersons are considered to be influencers, which depends on the sought audience and can thus not be considered an objective statement. Also the data has been coded based on the author's interpretations. These two aspects indicate that the study is epistemologically subjective and qualitative. The objective elements come from the fact that the coded data has been coded, it has gone from being epistemologically subjective to objective and quantifiable.

2.3 Research Design

2.3.1 Comparative Design

The study has a comparative design, as 30 brands have been compared to each other in order to identify the most common activities relating to branding and control. One could argue that the study also has elements of a case study, as each of the 30 brands has been investigated individually and quite thoroughly. However, it's the *comparison* of the cases that gives the result, as the data has been coded and treated as epistemologically objective elements that have been counted in order to identify the most common activities among all 30 brands.

2.3.2 Research Quality

In order to investigate the study's trustworthiness, four quality aspects for qualitative research (Guba and Lincoln, 2013) are discussed below.

Credibility

It is important to remember that the data for the study often corresponds to the image the brands aim to establish. The study's author has in many cases used several sources providing the same information, in order to increase the study's credibility but the truth is owned by the brands' founders and business partners and the message spread in articles is limited to what they tell, resulting in lower reliability. One could argue that since most data about the investigated brands is in line with their brand image, the brands' own and their fans' perspective is prioritized over dislikers' views. This has unfortunately been hard to avoid, simply since most information on branding activities within a certain brand has turned out to be told by people in favour of - or at least not against - the brand. To some extent, this issue is dealt with thanks to the different nature of the two research questions, where data from the first tends to come from neutral or brand-positive sources, and the other research question to large extent is answered with epistemologically objective data (such as whereas a brand owns patents or not) and data exposing the brands' failures in protecting themselves. In that way, both positive and negative aspects of the brands are brought to light.

Transferability

The clear requirements and limitations for which brands that have been included in the study set the scope for the study's transferability (which corresponds to quantitative studies' external validity). The large amount of brands that have been explored and investigated in the study is another aspect that increases the likelihood of the study having a high transferability.

Dependability

As the study is based on brands that are considered strong at a certain time, and with trends and tools constantly changing, it's unclear whether the presented results could be repeated. Although the same results may not be repeatable, considering the changing nature of branding, it is likely though that a similar study can be performed, because of its thoroughly described procedure (see 2.4 Data Collection and 2.5 Data Analysis).

Conformability

As the study is based on interpreting data from interviews and articles in combination with the author being alone in this pursuit, ensuring conformability (which corresponds to quantitative studies' objectivity) has been an issue. In order to decrease this risk however, all gathered data is presented in Appendix I, together with each statement's source(s). Instead of only presenting the number of brands performing a certain activity, the study also presents *which* brands are doing so, in order to simplify the process of deducing the evidence for such claim.

2.4 Data Collection

2.4.1 Theoretical Sampling

Except for two cases that have been explored deductively (*irrelevant attribute* and *recurring design attribute*), data has been gathered inductively and in accordance with theoretical sampling: Starting with exploring several virtual documents (online articles) about a few different brands, certain topics proved to be recurring (see Appendix I): The content would vary between the brands but they would all affect a certain business activity, for example the launch of the brand or marketing activity. These business activities or topics set the initial scope for what content (data) to include in the study. When identifying more brands, the number of topics grew only to a small extent and the content within each topic recurred more often (some more often than others) and was thus coded together.

Both research questions are answered through a comparative study of the branding and concept building activities (for RQ1) and control activities (for RQ2) of 30 firms that have managed to differentiate generic products.

2.4.2 Sample Selection

The brands in the study have been selected primarily by asking people in the surrounding for suggestions (see the requirements below). This method for choosing

the brands have been irregular and uncontrolled, and can therefore be accused of being unscientific. The author would however argue that the unstructured way of choosing the brands for the study in itself is what makes it trustworthy and what gives the brands their right to be included: The fact that the brands have been recalled and suggested by people in varying context, without any specific brand cues (other than the requirements mentioned below), speaks for the profound brand awareness depth that all these brands have established.

Requirements

Requirements / Limitations for the companies / brands in the study are the following:

- The brands are recalled when given the following requirements.
- Although the value proposition (concept) may differ, the brands' products (or services) in themselves should have generic counterparts. The extent to which the differentiated and the generic product differ from each other may vary between the subjects in the study, depending on type of product and which segment it belongs to.
- The brands' differentiating aspects may not be patentable.
- The company may not use its own heritage in its branding. This should not be mistaken for companies that brand themselves in a nostalgic way, thus creating a *perception* of heritage (these companies are allowed and present in the study).
- The company should preferably not be established by an already wellestablished organization, such as an FMCG company. There is no distinct definition for what a well-established organization is however, and one could argue that founders with a well-established personal brand or an impressive entrepreneurial track record could have a similar head start as for example an FMCG company when developing a new brand. Brands that have owners who were known by the target market already before the launch of the brand, are highlighted in the study as "Spokesperson almost equal to the brand".
- The brand should offer consumer goods or services.

The brands have been added to the study until the author has noticed a saturation in the brands' activities and strategies, from where a few additional brands were added in order to be more certain that the saturation was a pattern.

2.4.3 Gathering data of branding activities differentiating generic products

As stated, the brands' activities within each topic have been identified from virtual documents such as online articles and interviews, primarily about the brands and their founders, as well as brand websites. The search-engine Google has been used for finding these sources and although not an extensive list, the following search words have been used most frequently:

brand name "success story"
founder's name "success story"
brand name branding
brand name "branding strategy"
brand name marketing
brand name "marketing strategy"
brand name collaboration
brand name launch
brand name retailers
brand name history

In some cases, Swedish search words have been used.

The results are presented in sub-chapter 4.1 Common branding activities for differentiating generic products.

2.4.4 Gathering data of control activities for (differentiated) generic products

Control activities and their success are explored through a comparison of how the 30 studied brands manage control of their brands and products (or services), which problems they have encountered (and why) and litigation cases.

The search engine Google has been used for finding these sources and although not an extensive list, the following search words have been used most frequently:

brand name counterfeit *brand name* litigation *brand name* lawsuit *brand name* fake *brand name* copy *brand name* infringement

To map out the brands' registered trademarks (including trade dress), the Trademark Electronic Search System (TESS) - a search engine provided by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) - has been used. More specifically, the Basic Word Mark Search has been used.

The search has been limited to live registrations. The brand name was inserted as the Search Term and the searches have been limited to only show hits where the company name could be found as the trademark owner. In cases where no hits were found, the search has been changed to show hits no matter where the brand or company name is to be found. In some cases, the search has been made to identify trademarks owned by a founder instead of a brand or company name. In one case, where no trademark could be found, the Danish Patent and Trademark Office's online tool PVSOnline has been used.

To find utility patents and design patents, the search engine Google Patents has been used. The searches have been limited to show hits where the brand or company name (or in some cases the founder) is the assignee of the patent.

The control activities that don't include intellectual property rights (found under "Other control activities" were identified in the data gathering for RQ1. The results are presented in sub-chapter 4.2 Common control activities for generic products.

2.5 Data Analysis

2.5.1 Study

The gathered data has been inserted into a spreadsheet, with the relevant data put under the most appropriate topic.

When analysing data, which in this study equals to identifying recurring activities among brands, this has initially been done one topic at a time, comparing data from one brand with data of the others. As a second step, activities under other topics have in some cases coincided with activities primarily identified under other topics, and have thus been added.

2.5.2 Comparison of gathered data and theory

Similarly, each identified common branding activity has then been evaluated in the light of theory. The result of this is presented in Chapter 5. Analysis. As a second step, patterns have been highlighted, presented in Chapter 6. Conclusion.

3. Theory

This chapter starts with explaining important concepts for the thesis and gives an understanding for a brand's different aspects, competitive advantage in relation to brands and an introduction to intellectual property rights. It also moves further into the branding and protection context specifically for generic products and explains how control and differentiation are suggested to be achieved.

3.1 Brand Equity

Though there are different ways to measure it, Brand Equity can be seen as the difference between the outcomes of marketing a product with versus without a brand. (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 42). Brand equity is positive when a branded product becomes superior (on some level) compared to its unbranded counterpart. The opposite, where the brand has a negative effect on the perception of the product, is called negative brand equity (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 54).

Aaker argues (1992, 56) it's important to manage brand equity since assets have the potential to generate long-term profitability, as opposed to focusing on short-term profitability, which used to be the case for many businesses, aiming for good economic results on a quarterly basis. In a study about which assets are considered most important for a business' success, many of them were related to brand equity (Aaker, 1992, 56). Moreover, brand equity gives an alternative to compete with low price (Aaker, 1992, 57; Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 54).

3.1.1 Aaker's Brand Equity Model



Figure 9: Aaker's Brand Equity Model (Aaker, 1992, 28).

The reasoning behind Aaker's view on Brand Equity is that it generates value to the customer, which in turn generates value to the firm. Most importantly, this process is iterative, generating greater value to the firm as its fan base increases. According to Aaker (1992, 28) brand equity is built of five parts: Loyalty, Awareness, (Perceived) Quality, Associations, and Other Proprietary Assets. Having loyal customers is profitable, as they require less investment than gaining new customers. An additional benefit is that they through word-of-mouth can lead new customers to the brand (Aaker, 1992, 28-29). Awareness is related to the likelihood of a brand coming to mind and being considered as an option and is deemed to be one of the most important assets for an organization (Aaker, 1992, 30; Aaker, 1992, 56). Perceived Quality, which has the potential to give a customer an incentive to buy, is according to some studies the most important asset for an organization and is affected by aspects such as a brand offer's pricing, functions and positioning (Aaker, 1992, 29-30). Brand associations help the customer to understand what the brand is about and develop

emotions for its (perceived) meaning. These associations can stem from any of the brand touch-points; from attributes on the product to the country where it's produced (Aaker, 1992, 31). Lastly, Other Proprietary Assets aim to give the company a competitive advantage in such way that it gets more exposure or better control over its assets (for example through intellectual property rights). It is argued that this last aspect of brand equity has less importance and functions as a complement to the other four cornerstones (Aaker, 1992, 28).

3.2 Customer-Based Brand Equity

Chasser and Wolfe (2010) suggest using the term Brand Value in order to describe the financial aspects of a brand, while the customer-experience aspects are often described as Customer-Based Brand Equity, shortened: CBBE (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 54).

CBBE constitutes of three parts: In order to have brand equity, the consumer must (re)act *differently* to a branded product than if it didn't have a brand. This difference should stem from the consumer's view on the brand, whether it's gained from experience or attention. Lastly, the different consumer behaviour gained through brand equity is concerning behaviour as a result of (some kind of) marketing (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 54). As an example, opening a lid differently due to a brand labels' position on a container (granted that this doesn't affect the perception of the product or generate any associations), is not a different behaviour that is a result of brand equity, as this different behaviour is based on functionality and not the marketing efforts of the brand.

3.2.1 The Customer-Based Brand Equity Pyramid

In order to improve a brand's Customer-Based Brand Equity, a framework has been developed consisting of a pyramid divided into six blocks (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 66). The framework also highlights the importance for a brand to speak to the consumer's heart as well as providing an offer that lives up to the consumer's actual requirements (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 84-85).



Brand Identity: Salience

Starting at the bottom of the pyramid, the initial aim is to increase brand awareness. Brand awareness is the term for valuating how easily a brand comes to mind by the consumers. For depth, the lowest level of brand awareness is called Brand Recognition and occurs when a brand is recognized while it's exposed in some sort of way, for example if its logotype is shown. The deeper level of brand awareness is called Brand Recall and requires that someone is able to suggest a certain brand when being given a cue or requirement, for example a type of product. Depending on the shopping situation, the importance of brand recall versus brand recognition can vary. A brand can also have varying scenarios in which they can be recalled or considered as an option to be used. This is called brand awareness breadth and increases with the number of contexts in which a brand is considered. The breadth can be limited by how the brand defines its products (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 60, 68). For example, if defining a product as a sandwich spread, the only time this product might be recalled is when planning to eat a sandwich, such as for breakfast or a snack. Although the product *could* be used for a rich sauce, as dip or a gratin, it is not recalled when given such cues.

Brand Meaning: Performance & Imagery

The second pyramid level is divided into two blocks: Performance and Imagery. Both aim to distinguish what should set a certain brand apart from others and to establish associations (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 66).

Performance refers to the products' actual attributes and functionality and how well it corresponds to the customer's wishes and requirements. This also covers pricing point and aesthetics (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 71-72).

Brand Imagery is the brand's more subconscious or underlying perception of the brand: A sense of who the brands customers are, in what context it's bought and used, what values it has and how it's positioned (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 72-74).

In order to establish positive consumer-based brand equity, a brand needs to have a positive brand image. This doesn't mean that a brand must express a positive message: The central part is to evoke associations that the target audience finds to be strong, favourable and unique. (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 62) If being successful in this pursuit, it generally means that the associations reflect how the consumer wants to be perceived (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 74). A brand's ability to deliver these associations isn't limited to traditional marketing in any way. Instead, it can consist of product-related attributes, such as a certain packaging, nonproduct-related attributes, such as to who the brand aims its offers, and benefits, which constitutes of everything that the consumer considers the brand to fulfil on an emotional level (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 63-64). By making the "right" associations come to mind, the brand helps the consumer to form an understanding for the brand's position, as the brand image will have similarities to other brands' image (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 65). The connection between these brands can for example be that they all target the same audience, their products belong to the same category, or that they have the same price-level in their respective segments.

Brand Response: Judgements & Feelings

The response level aims to evoke a reaction to the brand. (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 66)

Brand judgement aims to get the customer to form an opinion about the brand: One factor that influences the opinion concerns the brand's quality, answering how well a brand performs on what it's believed to deliver. Another factor is the brand's credibility of living up to the associations it aims to evoke. A third factor, brand consideration, is connected to brand awareness breadth, with the difference that instead of focusing on in which usage settings a brand might come to mind, brand consideration deals with whether or not consumers see the brand as an option for themselves. An example would be if knowing a brand and finding it credible, but not being interested in what it offers, thereby not considering it. One last factor to get the customer to form an opinion about a brand is whether or not it's seen as superior to its alternatives (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 75-76).

Feelings refer to how a brand (and using its offer) makes its consumer feel. With varying intensity, these emotions either bring positive feelings immediately (for example, playing a video game can be *fun* or *exciting*) or internally (for example, a certain workout regime can increase *self-respect*) (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 76, 78).

Brand relationships: Resonance

The last building block for customer-based brand equity is to build loyalty. Resonance deals with how engaged customers are and feel in a brand. It can be expressed as intense consumption behaviour, but in such case it's also necessary that the purchase is based on a "feel" for the brand and not only for the need of the product (buying the same toothpaste repeatedly because it's the only brand that the local store offers, doesn't mean that the brand has resonance). Another way of establishing resonance is if the customers of a certain brand feel a connection between each other. The strongest brand resonance is achieved when customers are seeking to engage with the brand outside of a purchase or consumption situation (Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 79-81). An example can be when a customer by own will advertises a certain brand on its social media channels or when a customer subscribes to a newsletter.

3.3 Competitive Advantage in a Knowledge-Based Economy

Heiden (2015) argues that Competitive Advantage is the ability to create more economic value in comparison to competitors. This in turn, can be achieved in two ways: Either the perceived value can be increased, justifying a higher price, or the perceived value can remain constant to the competitors but with a lower price-tag. A competitive advantage for a commodity is gained by the latter strategy (Aaker, 1992, 57; Keller, Apéria and Georgson, 2008, 54), whereas the (perceived) value increase strategy calls for differentiation (Heiden, 2015).

A company can create a competitive advantage from its resources, capabilities and market position. In order for a resource to function as a competitive advantage it needs to be valuable and rare. However, in order to *remain* a competitive advantage, it

also needs to be durable, meaning that it cannot expire or lose its allure even if being unlimited. Lastly, it needs to be imperfectly imitable, meaning that no-one else should be able to get hold of the same resource unless at a higher level of effort (Heiden, 2015).



3.3.1 Value acquired through knowledge

Figure 11: Different types of economies due to knowledge-addition (and control of it) (Heiden, 2015).

Society has developed from a raw material-based economy where those with access to raw material had the power as it could be sold in its natural state. With increasing knowledge, the raw materials could be refined and combined into commodities: products serving some sort of function (whether necessary such as tiles, or desired such as coffee). Such a product has an advantage if it can offer the same value as its competitors but to a lower price and belongs to a production-based economy. As mentioned above, the alternative way of developing a competitive advantage is to differentiate the product, thus boosting it with a sense of providing something extra that is worth paying for. What allows such products to take the step from a production-based economy to a knowledge-based industrial economy is that their competitive advantage is based on some kind of knowledge instead of low price. As an example, one could see a pair of cheap jeans bought in a supermarket as part of the production-based economy, whereas a pair of Levis jeans, which are perceived as more valuable (thanks to their brand) although providing the same function, belong to the knowledge-based industrial economy. It's important to understand that this knowledge-generated advantage isn't limited to branding though. Other knowledgebased competitive advantages can for example be new technology or a business model that optimizes the business in some way.

Climbing the ladder even further, there are also businesses within an even more knowledge-based economy, whose main activity is to sell that differentiating effect in it's raw form: not yet applied to products, for others to apply and profit from.

With more knowledge applied in order to generate value, the control of that value needs to increase as more effort has been put into acquiring it. (Heiden, 2015).

3.4 Differentiating Commodities

Levitt argues that although products in themselves might be generic and undistinguishable from one company to another, the businesses who offer these products are *always* differentiated (Levitt, 1980, 83). It is argued that a product's quality or functions are rarely what make it successful. Instead it's how well it corresponds to the customers' expectations (Levitt, 1980, 86). Furthermore, a product can be *augmented* by exceeding the customers' expectation (Levitt, 1980, 87).

Hill, McGrath and Dayal (1998) reason that in order for a commodity to become differentiated, it needs to be part of a greater concept. Focusing on industrial low-tech products, they state that there are only six different dimensions in which a value proposition for a commodity can be tweaked: *Quality Control* and *Supply Reliability* (offering increased consistency), *Matching* and *Applications Knowledge* (offering increased customization) and lastly *Packaging* and *Taking Responsibility* (offering increased convenience). Lastly, offerings within these six dimensions need to be combined in order to make it harder for competitors to match or stand equal to the advantages.



Figure 12: The six dimensions for differentiating commodities (Hill, McGrath, Dayal, 1998).

In the market of generic drugs, Williams (2004, 349) describes a situation where brands have become the new reassuring entity, replacing the role that institutions and authorities used to have. This increasing independency among people, seeking information and control by themselves instead of trusting their authorities, seems to reflect society in general, with its individualization and information access overload. However, Levitt (1980, 88) reported already in the eighties about an increasing amount of differentiated (former generic) products, which indicates that our strive for individualization isn't new. In this individualized context, Williams (2004, 349) argues that brands function as "a badge of trust". In this pursuit, the importance of establishing a clear brand identity is emphasized, where the product packaging (with its symbols) has the potential to constantly remind the consumer of what the product can offer (Williams, 2004, 350-351).

3.4.1 Increased importance to differentiate

Where the old tradition was for the poor to only buy low-cost and the rich to solely choose luxury brands, consumers today spend more on what they feel is important and less on what they don't care as much about. Where Williams (2004) referred to a growing disbelief in authorities, Fiske and Silverstein (2003) see the increasing demand for brands as a result of an emotional awareness among consumers, who seek options for expressing themselves and tools for becoming who they want to be. Fiske and Silverstein (2003) further argues that this has made it crucial to differentiate products and unless they can be defined as low-cost, new-luxury or some kind of extreme luxury, it's hard for a brand to be noticed and appreciated. The emergence of new-luxury brands often comes from founders outside of the product market, looking at the product with a fresh perspective. These new-luxury brands don't need a heritage to rely on, nor do they need the lowest prices, as they change the way we see their type of product. Differentiation can even make room for new competitors in seemingly saturated markets (Datamonitor, 2004, 13).

Besides the opportunity for historical luxury brands to introduce a lower-priced product segment, there are two additional ways for developing new-luxury goods:

One way is to choose a product segment whose highest-priced alternatives will allow a company to make a substantial profit, but where the price is still low enough for the general consumer to afford. An example of this is Starbucks Coffee, who charges more than most other coffee shops for a take-away coffee. The amount of money that is charged isn't high in general; it's just expensive for being coffee.

Fiske and Silverstein (2003) have also coined the word *masstige*, an abbreviation of mass prestige, describing a new type of luxury, which price-wise is positioned a bit above the commodity products but still far from the super premium alternatives. This way, the price is low enough to generate mass consumption but each product is also generating a higher profit than the cheaper generic alternative.

Because of new-luxury's position between low-priced products that need to be sold in large quantities in order to generate profit and luxury goods that need greater skill, time and investment to be produced, it is also argued that new-luxury brands are able to go to market faster and try out ideas faster with smaller investment (Fiske and Silverstein, 2003).

3.5 Adding attributes to differentiate products

Nowlis and Simonson (1996, 37) argue that an additional feature has greater impact on a product with lower performance than the same kind of product with a higher performance and give an example of a pair of binoculars where a step from four to eight times magnitude capacity will have greater impact than a pair of binoculars' magnifying capacity increasing from 14 to 18. It is further explained that if two similar products already have a set of different features, adding yet another feature to one of the two products will only have a small impact on the perception of the products' differences. The authors describe this phenomenon as *Multiattribute diminishing sensitivity*, meaning that with few and few *varying* features, adding a novel feature will distinguish one product more from the other.



Figure 13: Multiattribute Diminishing Sensitivity (Nowlis and Simonson, 1996, 37).

It is also argued (Nowlis and Simonson, 1996, 38) that people believe a new feature's performance to be better if it's applied to a product which is higher in quality and that already has many features, whereas the opposite (low quality and few features) generates a belief that the added feature won't live up to the expectations.

It is consequently recommended that new features are added to products that are already perceived as high-quality and that the added feature has its greatest impact on the buying behaviour among consumers who need rational reasons for choosing one product over another (Nowlis and Simonson, 1996, 44). Alternatively, since a new feature will have greatest impact if it's applied to a high-quality product, introducing a new feature can be a way for a company to increase its product prices, or at least provide a seemingly legit reason for doing so (Nowlis and Simonson, 1996, 45).

3.5.1 Irrelevant attributes

Carpenter, Glazer and Nakamoto (1994, 340) explain that an attribute added in order to differentiate a product and increase its competitive advantage doesn't necessarily need to have a function or even an actual benefit. Instead it's the customers' perception of what the new feature implies that generates a preference (Carpenter, Glazer and Nakamoto, 1994, 339). Carpenter, Glazer and Nakamoto describe this as meaningless differentiation or irrelevant attribute while others choose the less harsh terms unneeded features (Simonson, Carmon and O'Curry, 1994, 24) and trivial attribute (Sun, 2010, 1557). The irrelevant attribute can function as an association to a sought effect, and Carpenter, Glazer and Nakamoto (1996, 339) bring up an example of using the word Silk for a shampoo product, as it will lead the consumer to believe that using that specific shampoo will more likely lead to silky smooth hair, even though actual silk doesn't have that effect on hair. Another, less direct, way of generating a preference is to use an irrelevant attribute that (to the consumer) wouldn't make any sense unless it implied some kind of superior performance. Carpenter, Glazer and Nakamoto (1994, 341) mean that the attribute in itself, while not being informative enough to expose its advantage, leads the consumer to ask "Why would a company make the effort to promote this feature unless it's relevant?". Moreover, even if an attribute's irrelevance is understood by the consumer, the product can still be favoured since it's more distinctive (Carpenter, Glazer and Nakamoto, 1994, 341).

Unless the perceived superiority from the irrelevant attribute isn't reflected in the product's price, the irrelevant attribute is perceived as having low effect. If setting the price higher than its competitors, the product with the irrelevant attribute will be preferred (Sun, 2010, 1570) - even if its attribute's irrelevance is revealed (Carpenter, Glazer and Nakamoto, 1994, 344). When setting a premium price however, only products with irrelevant attributes that *seem* to be meaningful will be preferred (Carpenter, Glazer and Nakamoto, 1994, 347).

Sun explains (2010, 1558) that the findings in Carpenter, Glaze and Nakamoto's research isn't undisputed. It's also been stated that products with unneeded features might take the attention from more significant features that could otherwise have created a preference and that consumers can choose other products if they believe that the trivial attribute is what generates a product's higher price (Simonson, Carmon and O'Curry, 1994, 24). However, Sun's study shows that irrelevant attributes generate the strongest preferences when applied to products that are *highly involved* (Sun, 2010, 1570), i.e. products that consumers strongly identify themselves with and that are engaging the consumer, products that feel *important* in the consumers' lives (Sun, 2010, 1561).

3.5.2 Design attributes to establish brand identity



Figure 14: Framework for aligning design features with brand identity (Karjalainen, 2007, 69).

Karjalainen (2007) argues that another way of expressing brand values is through the design features of the product. Instead of adding features, as discussed by Carpenter, Glazer and Nakamoto (1994), a brand could stay consistent with its design features, and thus establish them as part of a potentially iconic look, harmonizing with and strengthening the brand identity (Karjalainen, 2007, 67). These design features are in a way another example of irrelevant attributes as their perceived effect rarely - if ever - corresponds to their actual effect on the product. These reappearing design features function both as a way to establish a recognizable style among the brands' products and as a way to emphasize the brand values (Karjalainen, 2007, 67). However, it is also explained that the design consistency of a brand can be *not* to reuse design features, if the brand for example aims to establish values of being disruptive newthinkers (Karjalainen, 2007, 68). It is also argued that staying too consistent with the design isn't sought either, as the products will then be deemed to lack novelty in the eyes of the customer (Karjalainen, 2007, 69). The design features are further divided into explicit and implicit design attributes, where the explicit ones are reused on different products while the implicit design features may differ from one product to another but always aim to establish the brand's values (Karjalainen, 2007, 69). While implicit design features *always* aim to reflect brand values, explicit design features are not limited to this and might instead be added without a reason other than to establish a brand look (Karjalainen, 2007, 68).

3.6 Controlling knowledge

Knowledge can be controlled through intellectual property rights (IPRs), secrets, contracts and first-mover advantage (Petrusson, 2004, 76). Besides utility patents, which can exclude others from exploiting an invention, other IPRs can cover less functional - yet still differentiating - sources of value. Chasser and Wolfe (2010) even argue that all parts in marketing can be protected in one way or another. However, it's important to remember that although something can be *covered* by an IPR, its strength will vary depending on its content. Below follows a brief explanation of what can be protected through different IPRs (Uspto.gov, 2014).

Utility Patents Excludes other from exploiting an invention.

Design Patents Excludes others from exploiting a non-functional design.

Trademarks & Service marks Excludes others from using a name or symbol for the same commercial use.

Trade dress Excludes others from using a shape or packaging for the same commercial use.

Copyright Excludes others from copying creative work, such as literature, music, paintings etc.

3.6.1 Intellectual Property's role in branding

When Chasser and Wolfe (2010) asked branding professionals what they saw as common denominators among the world's highest valued brands, the answer was their ability to create strong emotional bonds with their customers and that they do this in all touch points. Another shared feature was that the brands aren't fixed but instead develop in order to remain interesting to their customers.

When asking intellectual property lawyers about the common denominators, the answer was instead that these brands are protected in multiple ways and that the brands are focused and consistent in what they express, no matter the channel.

Similarly to Hill, McGrath and Dayal's (1998) standpoint that a generic product can only be differentiated by embedding the product into a greater concept, Chasser and Wolfe (2010) come to the conclusion that the strongest brands are the ones who have understood that it consists of many elements. They further argue that the strongest brands, which are able to stay strong over a long time, are the ones where intellectual property is incorporated into the creative work of the brand. Since the result of all branding activities can be protected by intellectual property rights, the potential IPR's strength should be considered when developing a creative brand element.

4. Results

This chapter shows the result of the gathered data, relating to the thesis' research questions.

4.1. Common branding activities for differentiating generic products

Below is a table showing which activities are the most common for differentiating generic products. It also shows which brands are performing these activities. The brands are categorized into different segments depending on their value proposition. The data is presented in its entirety in Appendix I.

This subchapter relates to the first research question (RQ1): *Which activities are most common for differentiating generic products (or services)?*

Irrelevant attribute	Recurring design attribute other than label	Starting globally	Concept before product	Product-centered business expanding into offering services	Founder / Author	The brands were created to fill a gap in a current trend	Spokesperson almost equal to the brand	No logo	Unconventional sales channels	Reinvesting profit to buy larger batches	Rebellious act	Close customer relationships	Free samples	Launching imperfect products	Collaboration to create marketing material	Story-telling	Shopping experience	Merchandise	Outsourcing distribution and marketing	Trade shows	The brand as it's known today was initially a business extension	Marketing brand instead of product range	The concepts have a strong emphasis on social or environmental benefits	Avoiding traditional marketing	The brands are sprung from the founders' own needs	Launch targeting influencers & establishing position	Collaboration to create products	Unorthodox strategy to the segment custom	Influencers for marketing		
30%	40%	7%	7%	10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	10%	13%	13%	17%	17%	17%	20%	20%	20%	20%	23%	27%	27%	30%	33%	33%	37%	37%	43%	50%		
																														Aesop	Be
							\square	\square	\square	\square	\square																			Bliss Spa	Beauty, Care & Cleaning
							\square		\square	\square					\square									\square						Bumble & Bumble	, Car
П																														Method Products	e &
																														The Art of Shaving	Clear
																														The Laundress	ning
\Box																														American Apparel	
																														Bread & Boxers	Clothing
Ц																														Cheap Monday	hing
																														GASP	
																														Chobani	
																														Fiji Water	
Ц																														Innocent Drinks	5
\square																														Lakrids by Johan Bülow	a 8
																														Lärabar	Bev
									\vdash																					Monster Energy	erag
									⊢																					Renée Voltaire	ē
																														VOSS	
															<u> </u>															WelleCo	
									\vdash	\vdash	\vdash																			Daniel Wellington	⊳
Н							-	\vdash	\vdash			\vdash																		Happy plugs	Accesso
Н				-			\vdash	\vdash	\vdash		-	\vdash		\vdash									-	-	\vdash				\square	Happy Socks	
Η			-				-	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash																		\square	Hershcel Supply Company	80
\vdash	_		-			\vdash	\vdash		\vdash	\vdash				\vdash	\vdash										\vdash				\vdash	Moleskine	
\vdash	_		-	\vdash		\vdash	\vdash		-		P			\vdash	\vdash	-								\vdash					\vdash	MUJI Bura Eix Ouclas	Useful Objects
\mathbb{H}	-		\vdash	\vdash		\vdash	\vdash	╞	\vdash		\vdash	\vdash	-				\vdash		\vdash	-	\vdash	\vdash		\vdash						Pure Fix Cycles TOMS	bjed
Н			\vdash	\vdash			\vdash	╞	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	-				\vdash		\vdash	-	\vdash	\vdash		\vdash	\vdash		\vdash			UrbanEars	ts
H							\vdash	\vdash	┢	\vdash	\vdash																			SoulCycle	Ţ
H	-		\vdash	\vdash	-	\vdash	\vdash	\vdash	┢	\vdash	\vdash		-	\vdash		-							-							Zumba	ercis

Figure 15: Results from the study, showing which activities are most common and by which brands they are performed.

4.1.1 Activities

The tendencies found in the qualitative study will here be presented in order from most to least common practice.

Influencers 50%

Half of the brands in total, with all *Exercise* brands, over two thirds of the *Food & Beverage* brands and one third of the brands in *Beauty, Care & Cleaning, Clothing* and *Accessories & Useful Objects* respectively, use influencers for marketing their brands. Examples of these influencers can be social media celebrities, actors and athletes. Some of them are acquired by the brands while others are fans that have reached out to the brands themselves.

Unorthodox strategy to the segment custom 43%

Over one third of the brands are doing something dramatically different from what's common practice in their respective segments. Although these strategies vary, most common is to set a different price than what's common (both higher and lower than what's usual) or to change the sales experience from what's expected, defining the brands' products as belonging to other product categories than their generic counterparts. An example of this is how a supplement is sold in the beauty department.

Collaboration to create products 37%

Most of the *Accessories & Useful Objects* brands (5/9 brands) and half of the brands in the *Beauty, Care & Cleaning, Clothing* and *Exercise* segments, sell products from collaborations with other companies. In most cases, these co-created products are the same as the brands' original products but with an aesthetic made or inspired by the collaborating partner. In fewer cases, new products have been developed together.

Launch targeting influencers & establishing position 37%

When launching the brands' products/services, what was more common than building a reputation from small players (e.g. individual stores) to attract larger players (eg. chains), over one third instead focused from the start on targeting influencers and establishing a notion about the brands' position. This was the strategy for almost half of the *Food & Beverages* brands as well as the *Accessories & Useful Objects* brands (4/9 brands respectively) including all of the water brands. The ways to do this differ dramatically between the companies but can be categorized into limiting access, getting influencers as early customers (celebrities, fashion-related people) and sponsorship (financially or with products).

The brands are sprung from the founders' own needs 33%

Although the brands' products or services in this study are seen as general (yet somehow differentiated in the eyes of the consumer), the differentiating aspects of the brands were often sprung from the founders' own needs. Examples of these differentiating aspects would be more convenient access (Bread & Boxers, Lärabar), attention to skin sensitivity (Bliss Spa, The Art of Shaving) and introducing something that's more easily found in the founder's native country (Chobani, VOSS).

Avoiding traditional marketing 33%

One third of the brands, primarily in *Foods & Beverages* (4/9 brands) and *Accessories & Useful Objects* (3/9 brands) but with representatives in all segments, are or were for a long time avoiding traditional marketing (e.g. TV commercials and billboard advertising), instead relying on social media, word-of-mouth and other earned and owned media.

The concepts have a strong emphasis on social or environmental benefits 30%

Though many more have *some* engagement in environmental issues or CSR work, only the brands having social and/or environmental engagement as one of their core activities are included in these ten brands. Especially in the *Food & Beverages* segment (4/9 brands) and *Accessories & Useful Objects* (3/9 brands), environmental concern and social benefit play important roles in the brands' image and values. Also, the study's two cleaning brands are both emphasizing their environmental awareness. In the *Food & Beverages* segment, this environmental awareness is strongly connected to the brands' profile of being healthy, resulting in natural ingredients, non-GMO etc. which, simultaneously as healthy, are promoted as environmental-friendly. Many of these brands are also engaging their customers in charity, shoe-brand TOMS being the role-model with its One-for-one business model where the company donates one pair of shoes to a child in need, with each bought pair. Innocent Drinks is another example, who encourages its customers to knit hats to their bottles, for which the company will donate money to charity.

Marketing brand instead of product range 27%

Eight brands, with one third of the *Food & Beverages* brands, use marketing to establish their brand and brand values rather than their actual value propositions. Examples of these activities can be to host or sponsor exhibitions and launch festive events.

The brand as it's known today was initially a business extension 27%

Especially in the *Beauty, Care & Cleaning* segment (4/6 brands), product-centered brands as they're known today were originally an extension of a service business (SPAs, hairdressers). Starting the business without any "self-created" products is also common in the *Clothing* segment where 2/4 started as retailers.

Trade shows 23%

Another common strategy to launch the brands' products has been to attend trade shows. It's been argued that what's even more important than attending, is to make the booth stand out from the crowd and showing off the products in the best way possible.

Outsourcing distribution and marketing 20%

Although more brands outsource parts of their business activities (such as production), one in five brands also outsource the distribution of their products to agents or hire foreign marketing agencies for establishing their brand abroad.

Merchandise 20%

All *Exercise* brands and two of nine brands in *Food & Beverage* and *Accessories & Useful Objects*, respectively, offer merchandise, most commonly in the form of branded T-shirts. For the *Exercise* brands, merchandise has even grown into large business by itself.

Shopping experience 20%

Especially in the *Beauty, Care & Cleaning* segment (5/6), the brand focus on shopping experience. While some do this by still offering its initial services such as SPA treatments, this is also often done with educated sales personnel that give extensive advice on the customers' specific concerns, guide the customers to the right products and showcase how to use the products. These experiences are offered both in real-life stores as well as online. Other ways the shopping is turned into a brand experience is through free samples and artistic store interiors.

Story-telling 20%

In the *Accessories & Useful Objects* segment (3/9 brands) and for the study's both bottled water brands, storytelling are a large part of the brands. For the water brands, the story sold is about water from a place on earth that is still untouched, assumingly clearer than all other waters. For the remaining three, the stories' character differ: There are examples of brands based on a tale about a (possibly fictitious) *person*, a story centered around *helping someone in need*, and even a story of (fictitious) *heritage*.

Collaboration to create marketing material 17%

In some cases, the brands have teamed up with artists and partners to create material for marketing, such as short films and installations.

Launching imperfect products 17%

Food & Beverage as well as *Accessories & Useful Objects* brands (2/9 brands respectively), admit to initially having sold products that needed improvements. In case of the food brands, the improvements have concerned manufacturing, where products initially have been made by hand, whereas the accessory brands have needed to improve their products since the first batches.

Free samples 17%

When launching the products, many brands, especially in the *Food & Beverages* segment (4/9 brands), have offered free samples of their products, most often to the consumers but in some cases also to the retailers.

Close customer relationships 13%

Four brands emphasize their close relationship to their customers, especially using social media to connect with their fans and provide customer service. For these brands, it's argued that the customers play an important role in the brands' product development.

Rebellious act 13%

In four of thirty cases, the creation of the brand was a rebellious move against the norm: The common denominator among these is a wish for a more straight-forward and less exclusive approach to the offer.

Reinvesting profit to buy larger batches 10%

Four brands claim to have grown from investing their own money into buying a small batch and reinvesting the profit into larger batches.

Unconventional sales channels 10%

In accordance with many brands choosing unorthodox strategies to their segment custom, one in ten brands do this by re-defining their offering and selling it in untraditional channels. An example of this is how a brand selling high-end liquorice prioritizes quality and design over segment when choosing retailers. Another is how basic clothing garments such as T-shirts were sold in hotels "as an extension of the mini bar" instead of in clothing stores.

No Logo 10%

A few brands, especially in the *Clothing* category (2/4 brands), are *avoiding* logotypes, attracting customers who perceive themselves as above the need for loud statements. Ironically, it has become a statement to consume these brands. However, while these clothing brands still market themselves (in one case almost aggressively), another brand also joins the movement of no or at least quiet marketing (2/30 brands).

Spokesperson almost equal to the brand 10%

In three cases, the brands are (partially) owned by people who prior to the brand, were already known by the brands' target audience. This functions as a springboard for gaining exposure, as magazines and online sites are more keen to mention the brands.

The brands were created to fill a gap in a current trend 10%

Although all successful brands have managed to fill a gap in the market, this study provides three cases where that gap has been identified in an on-going trend, and filled with an additional product category. In the retro trend, a lack of alternatives for bags was identified, in the "trend" of environmental awareness, cleaning supplies seemed to be left out of the conversation and in the case of colourful technology, the trend hadn't yet spread to headphones.

Founder / Author 10%

One founder for each ten brands has published a book on a subject related to the founded brand, helping to establish the notion that the founder (and consequently the brand) is an expert in the field.

Product-centered business expanding into offering services 10%

In a few cases, brands have started by selling products and later added services to their value proposition, such as subscriptions, cloud services and delivery within the hour.

Concept before product 7%

In two cases, the brands' products were an outcome of the concept. Both these examples come from the *Accessories & Objects* category, where Happy Plugs started with a slogan "What colour are you today?" and Happy Socks got found of its name and had only a vague idea about selling colourful socks.

Starting globally 7%

In the *Accessories & Useful Objects* segment, 2/9 brands outspokenly started selling their products globally from the very beginning. The reasoning is that if the concept is well packaged you might as well go international from the start. It can also be necessary to hit a global market in order to reach enough buyers.

4.1.2 Differentiating Attributes

Recurring design attribute other than label 40%

Over one third of the brands (5/9 brands in *Accessories & Useful Objects* and 4/9 brands in *Food & Beverage*) have non-functional design features that help forming their design identity.

Irrelevant attribute 30%

Almost one third of all brands also have some kind of irrelevant attribute. This is especially common within *Food & Beverage* (5/9 brands) where all water brands have irrelevant attributes from referring to distant locations. It is also common within *Beauty, Care & Cleaning* (2/6 brands) where the product names often (indirectly) imply a certain user experience or result.

4.2 Common control activities for generic products

Below is a table showing which intellectual property rights and other control activities are most commonly chosen for protecting (to some extent differentiated) generic products. It also shows which brands are experiencing control-related issues. Since all brands own trademarks (or service marks) and domain names, these are excluded from the table. Although 30 brands have been studied, only the ones that are experiencing control-related issues and/or are claiming control in more ways than through trademarks and domain names are presented in the table. The data is presented in its entirety in Appendix I.

This subchapter relates to the second research question (RQ2): What is common practice for claiming control over differentiated generic products (or services) and how well does it work?
Segment	Brand	Control-Re Counterfeit products	Control-Related Issues ounterfeit Infringing products products	Intellec Utility Patents	Intellectual Property Rights liity Design ents Patents Trade	Rights Trade	Rights Trade Dress	Dress Price	Offer Low- Price Adva	Offer Low- Price Advantage Customers	Offer Low- Price First Mover Advantage
		30%	20%	17%	23%	20%	7%	%	% 7%		7%
	Bliss Spa										
Beauty,	Bumble & Bumble										
Care &	Method Products			Packaging Packaging	Packaging						
Cleaning	The Art of Shaving										
	The Laundress										
Clothing	American Apparel										
	Chobani				Packaging						
1 20 20	Fiji Water				Сар						
Reverses	Moleskine										
pevelage	Monster Energy			Liquid dispenser Packaging	Packaging						
	SSOA										
	Happy plugs				Packaging						
	Happy Socks						I				
Accessories	Herschel Supply Company						I				
& Useful	Moleskine			Evernote notebook			I .				
Objects	ILUM										
	TOMS		(no dispute)								
	UrbanEars										
Exercise	Zumba				Activewear		—				

Figure 16: Results showing the most common control activities, by which brands they are performed as well as their control-related issues.

4.2.1 Control-related issues

Being that all studied brands sell products that (if being harsh) in themselves don't differ much from non-differentiated, generic versions, all are experiencing competing products on the market. However, due to the fact that these brands *to some extent* have managed to differentiate their products from the generic type, competitors aim to benefit from their efforts. Below are presented such cases that are either complete replicas of the brands' products (described as Counterfeit) or cases that have been brought to court due to a competing product's similarity (described as Infringement).

Counterfeit 30%

Almost one third of the brands struggles with counterfeit products on the market. This is especially common for brands in *Beauty, Care & Cleaning* (3/6 brands), likely because of the products' liquid form, which makes it easy to dilute or replace the original formula with something that appears to be the same before use. Monster Energy drinks also deal with counterfeit issues, which is in line with the above assumption. In China, there's a case where a company has established a *chain* of counterfeit stores and since it has also registered the trademark, the original brand hasn't been able to enter the Chinese market.

Infringement 20%

One in five brands has competitors passing off their reputation to such extent that it's seen as infringement. These are found in the *Food & Beverage* segment (2/9 brands) and *Accessories & Useful Objects* (5/9 brands). In one case, the brand hasn't sued the infringers but since the case is noticed by the general public and wildly debated, it is incorporated as an infringement case in this study. While the brands in most cases have won their litigations thanks to their control activities, their intellectual property has also been challenged and turned out to be weaker than expected - or invalidated. An example of this is a product that was protected by copyright but which wasn't broad enough to stop a competitor from selling a similar product. In another case, the brand has won cases thanks to its trade dress protection but has also had to settle with a competitor as the trade dress has been invalidated.

It should also be noted that three of the studied brands have been accused of infringing.

4.2.2 Protection

4.2.2.1 Intellectual Property Rights

Trademarks 100%

All studied brands have their brand name and logo trademark protected. In three cases (2/6 brands in the *Beauty, Care and Cleaning* segment), the brands are also registered as service marks.

Trade Dress Protection 20%

One in five brands have also trademark protected their packaging or details of their products with trade dress protection (3D trademark). This is especially common in the *Food & Beverage* segment where half of the brands, including all water brands, have protected their packaging. For one water brand, this protection has led to less

infringement, whereas the other water brand has experienced both wins and settlements (due to its trade dress' lack of distinctiveness). For the brand that has a design protection yet still is being copied by a competitor, the trade dress protection covers a product which is an extension of the brand's product range, thus irrelevant for the protection of what the brand is mostly known for.

Design Patents 23%

Four out of six design patents (with *Food & Beverage* representing the most with 3/9 brands) are related to packaging design. Two of these nevertheless experience counterfeit and infringement, which in one case has to do with that the design patent isn't related to the product that's being copied.

Utility Patents 17%

Although the brands in this study are known for products that most often cannot be protected by a utility patent, five brands nevertheless own such patents. Many of these utility patents cover inventions that are outside of the brands' main scope and have limited importance for the protection of the brands' success.

4.2.2.2 Other Protection Strategies

Besides the above-mentioned intellectual property rights and domain names (which all studied brands have), the brands have additional control strategies in order to protect their brand position.

Offer Low-Price Option 7%

Two brand owners mean that you need to fill the price gap between your products and a potential competitor's imitation. A creative example of this is how one brand created another brand selling products almost identical to the original brand's but with a lower price in order not to lose low-price customers to competitors.

First Mover Advantage 7%

Two brands, both in the *Accessories & Useful Objects* segment, highlight that they were the first on their respective markets. In order to cope with the competition they now have, one brand claims to focus more on product development and marketing. The other highlights that the market they created will remain, but change, for which they'll need to adapt (or possibly lead the way). Moreover, a third brand means that the threat doesn't necessarily come from the segment in which the products belong, but that more relevant competitors can be found in other product categories, which offer an alternative for the brands' consumers to spend their money on.

Inform Customers 3%

A brand from the *Beauty, Care & Cleaning* segment, which is described as a "grey zone" where products can be diluted or sold after they've expired, aim to inform their customers by explaining on their website where their authentic products can be found and where not to buy them.

Strengthen brand values 3%

One brand argues that since their products are hard to protect, they instead focus on establishing their brand values, as those are considered harder to replicate.

Opportunism 3%

One brand who has a hard time staying on top of the counterfeit situation as their exercise DVDs are wildly copied and illegally sold, figured that since they couldn't stop it, they should try to benefit from it. By adding advertising both on the packaging as well as in the content, recommending the viewer to seek a real-life exercise class, their marketing is spread for free, potentially leading the consumer of the counterfeit DVD to seek the brands' other and, most importantly, *original* products and services.

5. Analysis

This chapter explains which aspects of a brand (presented in Chapter 3. Theory) that are affected most often through the most common activities (presented in Chapter 4. Results). It also compares the most common activities with what is suggested in Chapter 3. Theory.

5.1 Analysis of Activities

Influencers

Using influencers for marketing a brand can help customers get the "right" associations as they will connect their perception of the influencer with the brands' values and standpoint. It can also give the brand credibility if the influencers are seen as credible within their fields. Moreover, by using an influencer who the target audience admires and relates to, the chances for the brand to be considered by that audience likely increases. Influencers also give the brand a proprietary asset as it gets additional space. If the influencer organizes competitions in collaboration with a brand, this also calls for interaction and thus brand resonance. Using influencers creates the impression that the promoted products are highly involved products in the influencers' lives, which might up the chance for them to become highly involved products in the target customers' own lives.

Risks can be if an influencer behaves in a manner that isn't in accordance with the brand's values or if the *influencers*' own brands are too varied, leading to confusion of what the promoted brand stands for.

Unorthodox strategy to the segment custom

Doing business differently within a segment is a way to generate new associations and possibly to broaden brand awareness. This in turn, could also lead to a change in who will consider the brand, if the broadened brand awareness coincides with a category that the potential customer considers. Changing the way people look at a certain product is a classic strategy among new-luxury brands but the study shows that the change in doing business sometimes instead is to *lower* the price (still without defining the offer as a commodity). The reason for such movement can be to establish a brand image of being honest.

Collaboration to create products

By collaborating with another brand, new associations can increase the credibility, if the collaborating partner is deemed credible. It is also a way to gain a proprietary asset as the brand will be shown in new channels, segments etc. Similar to the abovementioned strategies, also collaborations can lead to new potential customers considering the brand, if they consider the collaborating partners' brand and products.

As the product from the collaboration can be seen as if it has an added feature, there is a risk for multiattribute diminishing sensitivity. If collaborating with many different brands for example, the brand image risks becoming diluted. There are however also benefits with collaborating, for example that the collaborated product could motivate a higher price since it has an added feature.

Launch targeting influencers & establishing position

By immediately focusing on establishing the sought brand associations, the brand can more efficiently develop brand awareness, credibility and consideration among its target audience.

In some cases, this strategy involves limiting the access, which is the opposite of what the differentiating framework for commodities suggests. That is likely outweighed with the associations that exclusivity creates and the perceived quality coming from a high price point.

The brands are sprung from the founders' own needs

Stating that a brand's offer comes from a personal need for it can increase the brand's credibility for providing such offer. This also gives the founder a chance to function as a spokesperson for the brand, meaning that not only has the brand potential to attract customers interested in the value proposition, but also those who relate to the founder, since they might consider the brand if the founder considers it for him- or herself.

The differentiating aspects of the offers, stemming from the founder's needs, are often also in line with Hill, McGrath and Dayal's (1998) differentiating framework, where the brands offer increases convenience in the form of improved access to a product or increases customization, such as products developed for certain needs.

The concepts have a strong emphasis on social or environmental benefits

Developing a brand (partially) focusing on social or environmental benefits develops brand associations of caring. It can lead to loyal customers, who share the values of the brand and choose the brand to contribute to a certain cause. There are a few examples from the study where brands encourage their customers to contribute to a social or environmental concern in other ways than financial, which generates brand resonance. Since the brand will also be seen in forums concerning the certain cause and will build associations to it, it gets a proprietary asset as it increases its number of touch-points and can increase the number of cues for the brand to be recalled: Instead of just being recalled when asking for a juice brand, the brand can also be an example of a brand donating to charity.

In a way, this kind of "caring" part of a brand can also be seen as an irrelevant attribute, as it sometimes gives the product a perceived quality increase (in some dimension): It is easy to associate responsibility in one aspect (e.g. donating shoes to children in need or exclusively using non-GMO produce) with responsibility in another (e.g. choosing environmental-friendly colouring materials or having a low sugar content).

Also, if not managing to live up to the expectations in the work for a cause, it can damage the brand's credibility.

Avoiding traditional marketing

By avoiding traditional marketing, brands choose to lower the general awareness in favour of efficiently reaching their target audience. It can also in itself be a statement that gives the customers certain associations, for example that the brand is current or a smaller player with a "soul". Doing something differently is common for new-luxury

brands but avoiding traditional marketing specifically has been identified also among other sorts of brands in the study.

Choosing alternative marketing channels can also subconsciously increase the brands' credibility as the target customers are reached on their own terms: "This brand is for people like me because we meet at the places where I prefer to be." This can likely lead to a brand being more considered by its target market.

Marketing brand instead of product range

Marketing the brand and its values instead of its products is done to establish the "right" associations to the brand and increase brand recognition. This in turn can lead to an increased credibility for the products as the brand is seen in the "right" contexts. If successful, it can even be a way to increase brand resonance, since the customers will have to seek up the product range themselves, such as through the brand website.

The brand as it's known today was initially a business extension

When a brand's product range has evolved from another primary business, the products are likely enabled through customer loyalty.

Also, the (perceived) quality of the product can be high as there is a client base, which has used the brand's services for the same function as the product now provides. This also gives the brand credibility.

If a brand isn't considered, an extension might be considered. An example of this could be customers who don't consider themselves as people going to an exclusive salon. However, they might consider themselves as people using a hair product.

This also connects with the framework for differentiating commodities as convenience is increased (because of better access to the brand) as well as customization (since the brand often can be consumed in more ways).

Trade shows

By attending trade shows, brands develop their awareness breadth (depending on which trade shows they choose to attend), recall *and* recognition at once (for retailers). By attending, they can gain credibility in their segment while the space at the show can give them a proprietary asset. Retailers can form an opinion on whether or not to consider the brand if they get to know it,

The emphasis on making the booth stand out from the crowd and showing the products from their very best side are ways to develop the "right" associations of the brand. A giant booth might give the impression of being a well-established company for example.

Outsourcing distribution and marketing

The choice of outsourcing some activities (separated from the results of that choice) is likely less relevant for branding purposes. However, it *does* allow the firms to put more effort into branding and their offerings, which could lead to increasing credibility as these brands are able to say: "We focus on what we're doing best."

Merchandise

Offering merchandise increases awareness as loyal customers chooses to resonate with the brand and market it. The companies offering merchandize are likely known for products that are highly involved as customers identify with the brand to such extent that they want to market it - not only for free but by paying for it.

Shopping experience

By developing the shopping experience into something extraordinary, credibility can be achieved as the staff can mirror the expertise that the brands claim to have. This can also lead to loyal customers who not only buy the products because of the products themselves but also because they enjoy the actual purchase moment.

This experience might also function as an irrelevant attribute since the fact that someone has picked out a certain product for a customer could make him or her believe that it works better. This has the potential to generate extremely loyal customers, especially since these products are often highly involved products, such as skin care used in a daily beauty regimen.

Developing a shopping experience based on the sales representatives' expert advice is also an example of how to increase customization through service.

Story-telling

By telling stories, brands establish strong associations in their customers' minds. These have potential to establish a high (perceived) quality of the products, for example that bottled water from the Fiji Islands is more natural than any other water, which should most likely be seen as an irrelevant attribute. Storytelling will likely also expand brand recall even to cues about the interesting stories.

Collaboration to create marketing material

If collaborating with an artist for creating marketing material, customers will form new associations and possibly also think of the brand as being more credible, since it has managed to be promoted by someone who's credible within his or her field.

Free samples

By offering free samples, more people might consider the brand. It's also a statement about the products' quality, implying that it's so high-quality that the brand is sure customers will love it and buy it if they get to try it.

Close customer relationships

With close customer relationships, brands can get loyal customers to interact with the brand. It can lead to associations of the brand being caring and humble and shows an example of how products can be differentiated through increased customization, if they are developed based on consumer needs.

Rebellious act

Brands that are counter-reactions to a custom can bring a number of different associations to the customers. The examples in the study show associations to "being on the customers' side".

Launching imperfect products

Several companies in the study started with launching products (or manufacturing processes) that had to be improved. This is likely done in order to spread brand awareness but it also risks the brand's credibility and (perceived) quality and could result in negative brand associations.

Reinvesting profit to buy larger batches

A successful business that once started small and has grown in smaller steps, gives credibility to its products' perceived quality, as there has been a growing demand. If the products are only sold in small quantities that sell out, they also give the impression of being exclusive, even if that low quantity is based on cash-flow issues more than anything else.

Unconventional sales channels

By selling a product in a way that's more usual for another product segment, brand awareness can be broadened. It also leads new associations to the brand and customers in other segments might consider the brand's product.

In some cases, the unconventional sales channel is a way to increase convenience but in others it can (from a branding perspective) be seen as an irrelevant attribute: "Is the quality and taste of candy really that much better just because it's sold next to a designer chair?"

No Logo

Without logotypes, the brand establishes associations and an image of not relying on something superficial. Because of this, the brand has the potential to increase its products' perceived quality, as the products are claimed to speak for themselves.

Spokesperson almost equal to the brand

Spokespersons that are strongly connected to a brand bring the same benefits and risks as brand influencers in general and give the brand a huge proprietary asset since it will more likely be shown in different channels such as magazines and TV.

The brands were created to fill a gap in a current trend

Developing a brand with a current trend in mind is in a way risky as it isn't a longlasting strategy. That being said, by connecting the brand associations to an on-going trend, the awareness depth can increase and the likelihood of getting attention increases as the field in which the brand claims to belong is discussed. Furthermore, people who are already in awe of a trend might also consider the new brand entering the market.

Founder / Author

By publishing a book in the field that the brand operates, the credibility of the brand can increase. It can also improve brand recall, as the brand can now also come to mind when given the cue authors. It's also a way of increasing customization through service as the book can provide additional information of how to use the brand's products.

Product-centered business expanding into offering services

Businesses who offer services in connection to their products show examples of differentiation through customized services. It's also a way to broaden brand awareness and strengthen brand recall as the brand can be considered in more situations and segments.

Concept before product

For brands where the concept has been more important than the product (according to the founders), key is likely to establish the right associations and image that the potential customers will want to identify themselves with, no matter in what way.

Starting globally

By starting globally, a brand focuses on developing its brand depth. It can also improve the brand's credibility of delivering something in a safe and reliable manner, as international businesses traditionally have been well-established organizations. Lastly, by offering worldwide accessibility, the brand differentiates its business by increasing convenience through service.

5.2 Analysis of Differentiating Attributes

Recurring design attribute other than label

By forming a coherent look of a brand's products, brand recognition can increase as a given aesthetic can be connected to the brand. The chosen design features can also help generate the "right" associations. These two results can in turn lead to a clearer brand image.

Irrelevant attribute

Irrelevant attributes generate associations leading to expectations on what the product can do. This is a risk, as the perceived quality might not correspond to those high expectations but the frequent use of this strategy among differentiated brands show that it is an effective method to differentiate a brand.

5.3 Analysis of Protection

It's striking that many of the brands have IPRs that cover aspects of the business that aren't relevant to their core value proposition: Most brands' utility patents for example, are related to details and functions that don't contribute to the brands' differentiation (in the eyes of the consumer).

In accordance with Chasser and Wolfe (2010), the more different kinds of protection, the better, also in this study. Of the brands that are covered by three or four different IPRs (one being trade dress protection), none are experiencing counterfeit. With less than three different sorts of IPRs however, the control is weakened.

That being said, only one third of the brands have additional IPRs to their trademark protections (and domain names): Of the total fourteen brands experiencing counterfeit and/or infringement issues, six of them only have trademark protection. This means that of all the brands only protecting their brands and goods through registered

trademarks, about one third encounters problems with claiming control. On the other hand, because of the brands' products differentiated yet still close-to-generic state (at least from a manufacturing perspective), most brands have encountered very similar products from other companies on the market. The lack of but need for control is especially evident in *Beauty, Care & Cleaning*, indicating that the importance of protecting a brand varies with the category it belongs to. Similarly, brands within *Accessories & Useful Objects* are overrepresented in counterfeit and infringement cases, and therefore likely more exposed to control-related issues.

For brands experiencing infringement, having a trademark including trade dress protection has according to the study proved to work best. There's not a solid track record though, as one trade dress protection has also been invalidated when trying to claim its right against an infringer.

Also, the different sorts of IPRs won't help if too many of them are irrelevant in relation to what's being infringed. As an example, several brands that have both trademark protection as well as patent protection (utility patent *or* design patent) have still not been successful in protecting their products, likely since the patent protections haven't protected the aspects that have been infringed.

6. Conclusion

This chapter provides a summary of the thesis procedure and highlights the conclusions drawn from the analysed results (Chapter 5. Analysis), answering the research questions. Lastly it provides a discussion about potential risks with the thesis.

6.1 Summary of thesis procedure

This thesis has investigated which branding and control activities are most common among firms that have differentiated generic products (or services) and what their intentions are. A theoretical framework was developed, highlighting important concepts concerning branding and intellectual property. A literature review was then conducted, exploring the importance of differentiating products, how it can be achieved and what intellectual property's role in this process looks like. A study investigating branding-related activities and control activities was made on 30 brands that have managed to differentiate generic products (or services). From this, the most common activities among the studied brands were highlighted and analysed in the light of the literature review and the theoretical framework. The process resulted in the following insights.

6.2 Answers to the research questions

RQ1: Which activities are most common for differentiating generic products (or services)?

Although hard to avoid, activities seem to first and foremost be done to strengthen the brand image through associations. This in turn seems to often have an effect on the brands' credibility.

Another common denominator among the activities is that they expand the brand awareness, either in depth or breadth. The latter leads to more potential customers considering the brand, as the awareness breadth might have expanded to a category where they consider brands.

Many of the study's identified activities generate increased customization or convenience (or both), which are acknowledged strategies for differentiating commodities. However, there are also activities that do the opposite, such as decreasing convenience, in favour of establishing an exclusive brand image. This, together with most brands' focus on evoking associations and their common use of irrelevant attributes could indicate that a brand itself is far more important (for gaining customers) than its value proposition.

For gaining a proprietary asset, besides using control mechanisms, most brands seem to increase their exposure by teaming up with either a person or another brand in order to be seen via their touch-points as well as their own.

With many different activities encouraging brand resonance and loyalty among customers, strengthening the bonds with the target audience also seems to be one of the highest priorities among the studied brands.

RQ2: What is common practice for claiming control over differentiated generic products (or services) and how well does it work?

Control activity is in many cases low, solely relying on trademarks as IPRs. It seems like the more different forms of IPRs, the more control. If only choosing a few different IPRs, the study shows that adding a trade dress protection to a brand's collection of trademarks can lessen the damage in case of infringement. Brands would benefit from focusing more on protecting their actual differentiating aspects, but the risk of being infringed also depends on the category to which the brands' offerings belong.

6.3 Risks

The main risk with the conclusions in this thesis is that the study might not have been extensive enough to generalize the result. The author did experience saturation in the results and then continued the study in order to make sure it wasn't a coincidence. It is still possible though, that if the study had been significantly larger, the identified common denominators could have been more finely separated into more categories. In other words: There's a risk that the common denominators identified in this study wouldn't have been gathered if the number of studied brands had been much bigger.

The other risk with this thesis is that the data has been gathered and interpreted by one person. As the data has needed interpretation, there's a risk that the author has misunderstood. In order to diminish that risk, the author has in many cases used several different sources to extract one piece of information. The author has also provided the studied data in its entirety (Appendix I) allowing the reader to draw its own conclusions from it.

7. References

A Bullseye View. (2016). *Target x SoulCycle Kick Off 10-City Tour With New York City Cardio Party*. [online] Available at: https://corporate.target.com/article/2016/01/soulcycle-new-york-city-launch [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Aaker, D. (1992). Managing the most important assets: Brand equity. *Planning Review*, 20(5), pp.56-58.

Aaker, D. (1992). The Value of Brand Equity. *The Journal of business strategy*, 13(4), pp.27-32.

Aaker, D. (2010). *Muji: The No-Brand Brand*. [online] Prophet.com. Available at: https://www.prophet.com/thinking/view/427-muji [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Adler, C. (2011). *Method Home Cleans Up With Style and (Toxic-Free) Substance*. [online] TIME.com. Available at: http://business.time.com/2011/05/03/method-soapbusiness-profile/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Aesop -Taxonomy of Design. (n.d.). *Taxonomy of Design*. [online] Available at: http://taxonomyofdesign.com/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Aesop. (n.d.). *Aesops Historia*. [online] Available at: http://www.aesop.com/se/about_aesop/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Aesop.com. (n.d.). *Aesop om produkter*. [online] Available at: http://www.aesop.com/se/article/aesop-on-products-se.html?active=artical [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Aesop.com. (n.d.). *Aesop på film*. [online] Available at: http://www.aesop.com/se/article/on-film-se.html?active=artical [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Aesop.com. (n.d.). *Morphē av Lucy McRae*. [online] Available at: http://www.aesop.com/se/article/morphe-by-lucy-mcrae-se.html?active=artical [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Aesop.com. (n.d.). *The Fabulist - Introduction*. [online] Available at: http://www.aesop.com/se/the-fabulist/introduction/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Alestig, P. (2013). *Livsnjutaren som håller sig flytande på färgglad yta*. [online] SvD.se. Available at: http://www.svd.se/livsnjutaren-som-haller-sig-flytande-pa-fargglad-yta [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Allen, G. (n.d.). *Elle Macphersons Super Elixir Alternatives – The Best Super Greens Powders Available*. [online] Mensanswer.com. Available at: http://www.mensanswer.com/articles/nutrition/elle-macphersons-super-elixir-alternatives/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Almegård, M. (2009). Måndag hela veckan - Örjan Andersson mäktigast i mode-Sverige. *View*, pp.8-10.

Amazon.com. (2010). *Amazon.com: Anonymous' review of Bumble and Bumble Tonic Lotion, 8-Ounce Spray Bottle*. [online] Available at: http://www.amazon.com/gp/customerreviews/R1AYRI141N3PBT/ref=cm cr arp d viewpnt?ie=UTF8&ASIN=B000BIV

Y24#R1AYRI141N3PBT [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Amazon.com. (2016). *Customer reviews: The Art of Shaving Full Size Kit, Sandalwood*. [online] Available at: http://www.amazon.com/Art-Shaving-Full-Size-Sandalwood/product-

reviews/B0046GEJY2/ref=cm_cr_dp_qt_hist_one?ie=UTF8&filterByStar=one_star& showViewpoints=0 [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Amazon.com. (2012). *Customer Reviews: The Art of Shaving Shaving Cream, Sandalwood, 5 fl. oz.*. [online] Available at: http://www.amazon.com/The-Art-Shaving-Cream-Sandalwood/product-reviews/B000FGWU0W?filterByStar=one_star [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Amazon.com. (2014). *Customer Reviews: The Laundress Delicate Spray, 4 Fluid Ounce*. [online] Available at: http://www.amazon.com/Laundress-Delicate-Spray-Fluid-Ounce/dp/B007R9AROQ#customerReviews [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Ambrose, M. (2015). *The little green elixir that has Elle Macpherson in raptures*. [online] Perth Now. Available at: http://www.perthnow.com.au/news/westernaustralia/the-little-green-elixir-that-has-elle-macpherson-in-raptures/newsstory/6779b9a641eade89dfdf7f51f564ffe1 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

André, M. (2014). *Renée Voltaire: "Jag tog tillbaka makten"*. [online] Chef.se. Available at: http://chef.se/renee-voltaire-jag-tog-tillbaka-makten-over-mitt-liv/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Archer, N. (2009). *muji* + *LEGO toy collaboration*. [online] designboom. Available at: http://www.designboom.com/design/muji-lego-toy-collaboration/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Atrox.se. (n.d.). *Fitnessföretaget som vuxit explosionsartat*. [online] Available at: http://atrox.se/referenser/swedishfitnessgroup/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Attard, K. (2011). *A Rip-Roaring Success*. [online] Business in Focus. Available at: http://www.businessinfocus.com.au/index.php/2011/09/monster-energy/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Bane, R. (2014). *Cheap Monday's 10-Minute Pop-up Retail Is Genius*. [online] Labelnetworks.com. Available at: http://www.labelnetworks.com/cheap-mondays-10-minute-pop-up-retail-is-genius/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Battan, C. (2014). *Meet the New SoulCycle Competitors*. [online] The Cut. Available at: http://nymag.com/thecut/2014/10/meet-the-new-soulcycle-competitors.html [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Berthling, E. (2006). *Cheap Mondays dödskalle irriterar men säljer*. [online] Göteborgs-Posten. Available at: http://www.gp.se/nyheter/sverige/1.178627-cheapmondays-dodskalle-irriterar-men-saljer?m=print [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Bhasin, K. (2012). *How Chobani Became A \$750 Million Business In Only Five Years*. [online] Business Insider. Available at: http://www.businessinsider.com/chobani-founder-hamdi-ulukaya-and-the-greek-yogurt-craze-2012-6?op=1&IR=T [Accessed 23 May 2016].

BizeeBee. (2012). *Thinking of Starting a Zumba Business?*. [online] Available at: http://bizeebee.com/2012/06/thinking-starting-zumba-business/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Blissworld.com. (n.d.). *bliss poetic waxing microwaveable waxing kit*. [online] Available at: https://www.blissworld.com/products/hair-removal/bliss-poetic-waxingmicrowaveable-waxing-kit [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Blissworld.com. (n.d.). *bliss products*. [online] Available at: https://www.blissworld.com/bliss-products [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Blissworld.com. (n.d.). *Blissworld*. [online] Available at: https://www.blissworld.com/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Blissworld.com. (n.d.). *spa powered products*. [online] Available at: https://www.blissworld.com/our-story/spa-powered-products [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Bliznac, K. (2012). *Kreatörerna bakom Cheap Monday*. [online] Nyheter24.se. Available at: http://nyheter24.se/modette/mode/731127-designerna-bakom-cheap-monday [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Bobb, B. (2015). *A First Look at Muji's Colorful Collaboration With Artist Samiro Yunoki*. [online] Vogue. Available at: http://www.vogue.com/13372048/muji-new-store-samiro-yunoki-collaboration/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

BODY. (2012). *Swedish Fitness: Global aktör med familjekänslan i behåll*. [online] Available at: http://www.body.se/artiklar/nyheter/20121206/swedish-fitness-global-aktor-med-familjekanslan-i-behall [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Boots.com. (n.d.). *About Bumble and Bumble*. [online] Available at: http://www.boots.com/en/Bumble-and-bumble/About-Bumble-and-bumble/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Bosson, N. (2013). *Musikmåndag: Att lyfta luren*. [online] King. Available at: http://www.kingmagazine.se/bloggar/kulturkrock/20130722/musikmandag-att-lyfta-luren [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Breadandboxers.se. (n.d.). *Women's Tank ribbed – Bread & Boxers*. [online] Available at: http://breadandboxers.se/collections/womens-collection/products/tankribbed [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Breadandboxersusa.com. (n.d.). *About Bread & Boxers*. [online] Available at: http://www.breadandboxersusa.com/about# [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Breslin, Y. (2012). *Get To Know Gwen and Lindsey, The Girls Behind "The Laundress"*. [online] Racked. Available at: http://www.racked.com/2012/5/16/7725229/the-laundress-2 [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Bryman, A. and Bell, E. (2003). *Business research methods*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Buchanan, L. (2012). *Zumba Fitness: Company of the Year*. [online] Inc.com. Available at: http://www.inc.com/magazine/201212/leigh-buchanan/zumba-fitness-company-of-the-year-2012.html [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Bumble and bumble. (n.d.). *Hairdresser's invisible oil sulfate free shampoo*. [online] Available at:

http://www.bumbleandbumble.com/product/9358/31245/Products/HairdressersOil/hai rdressers-invisible-oil-sulfate-free-shampoo/index.tmpl [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Bumble and bumble. (n.d.). *surf infusion*. [online] Available at: http://www.bumbleandbumble.com/products/spp/index.tmpl?CATEGORY_ID=CAT 72&PRODUCT_ID=PROD35641 [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Bumbleandbumble.com. (n.d.). *Bumble and bumble. Where it should (and shouldn't) be sold.* [online] Available at:

http://www.bumbleandbumble.com/bbstories/bbspeak/index.tmpl?story=on8 [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Bumbleandbumble.com. (n.d.). *In Fashion*. [online] Available at: https://www.bumbleandbumble.com/bbbuzz/fashion/index.tmpl [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Bumbleandbumble.com. (n.d.). *The House of Bumble*. [online] Available at: http://www.bumbleandbumble.com/hob/the_building/index.tmpl [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Burke, A. (n.d.). *They Bet Their Bar Mitzvah Money on Bicycles*. [online] Aabaco Small Business. Available at:

https://www.aabacosmallbusiness.com/advisor/blogs/profit-minded/bet-bar-mitzvahmoney-bicycles-224458295.html [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Carbone, K. (2011). *Unify, Simplify, Amplify: How Moleskine Gets Branding Right*. [online] Co.Design. Available at: http://www.fastcodesign.com/1663497/unifysimplify-amplify-how-moleskine-gets-branding-right [Accessed 23 May 2016]. Carpenter, G., Glazer, R. and Nakamoto, K. (1994). Meaningful Brands from Meaningless Differentiation: The Dependence on Irrelevant Attributes. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 31(3), p.339-350.

Chasser, A. and Wolfe, J. (2010). Brand rewired. Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley.

Chobani. (2016). *Chobani - Home*. [online] Available at: http://www.chobani.com/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Chobani. (n.d.). *Chobani - Products*. [online] Available at: http://www.chobani.com/products [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Chu, J. (2013). *Toms Sets Out To Sell A Lifestyle, Not Just Shoes*. [online] Fast Company. Available at: http://www.fastcompany.com/3012568/blake-mycoskie-toms/1 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Colin.se. (2013). *COLIN möter Happy Socks*. [online] Available at: http://colin.se/2013/11/colin-traffar-happy-socks [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Cummings, C. (2015). *How SoulCycle's Co-Founders Turned a Grueling Workout Into a Spiritual Empire*. [online] AdWeek. Available at: http://www.adweek.com/news/advertising-branding/how-soulcycle-s-co-founders-turned-grueling-workout-spiritual-empire-167472 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Daley, J. (2013). *How a Group of Friends Made a Dent the \$6 Billion Bike Industry*. [online] Entrepreneur. Available at: https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/225933 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Danielwellington.com. (n.d.). *Classy Oxford 26mm*. [online] Available at: https://www.danielwellington.com/se/classy-oxford-26mm [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Danielwellington.com. (n.d.). *Klockarmband – Läder & natoband | Daniel Wellington*. [online] Available at: https://www.danielwellington.com/se/accessories/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Danielwellington.com. (n.d.). *Our story*. [online] Available at: https://www.danielwellington.com/se/our-story/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Datamonitor plc, (2004). *Bowland Fresh & Night Time Milk Case Studies: Differentiating Products in a Commoditized Market*. Datamonitor's Case studies. Datamonitor plc, p.13.

Dean, G. (2010). *Pure Water Fuels Pure Marketing*. [online] Marketography.com. Available at: http://marketography.com/tag/fiji-water/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Earle-Levine, J. (2014). *Q&A: Elle Macpherson on Her New Lingerie Line, Turning 50, & More*. [online] The Cut. Available at: http://nymag.com/thecut/2014/04/qa-elle-macpherson-on-lingerie-turning-50.html# [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Ekman, J. (2012). *För foten i tiden*. [online] King. Available at: http://www.kingmagazine.se/artiklar/lasning/20120211/for-foten-i-tiden [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Elcompanies.com. (n.d.). *Bumble and bumble*. [online] Available at: http://www.elcompanies.com/pages/bumble-and-bumble.aspx [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Esquire. (2007). *This Month in Shaving: The Fusion Chrome Collection*. [online] Available at: http://www.esquire.com/style/grooming/a3887/fusionchrome1207/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Eunheejo.com. (n.d.). *MUJI STATIONERY*. [online] Available at: http://eunheejo.com/MUJI-STATIONERY [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Evans, T. (2012). *A Saucy Millionaire Role Model for Serial Entrepreneurs*. [online] Entrepreneur. Available at: https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/222602 [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Factory Jackson. (2011). *Brand Power: Monster Energy*. [online] Available at: http://factoryjackson.com/2011/01/11/brand-power-monster-energy/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Fairs, M. (2012). *Interview with Aesop skincare founder Dennis Paphitis on retail design*. [online] Dezeen. Available at: http://www.dezeen.com/2012/12/10/dennis-paphitis-aesop-interview/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Fiji Water Company, (2015). *Straw and cap combination for use with a bottle*. D722872.

FIJI Water. (n.d.). *FIJI Water*. [online] Available at: http://www.fijiwater.com/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Fiske, N. and Silverstein, M. (2003). Luxury for the Masses. *Harvard Business Review*, 81(4), pp.48-57, 121.

FoodBev. (2008). *Island Chill and Fiji Water end trademark dispute*. [online] Available at: http://www.foodbev.com/news/island-chill-and-fiji-water-end-trademark-dispute/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Fuchs, E. (2010). *Fiji Rival Barred From Marketing 'Viti' Bottled Water*. [online] Law360.com. Available at: http://www.law360.com/articles/199373/fiji-rival-barred-from-marketing-viti-bottled-water [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Gasp.nu. (n.d.). *GASP - Ambassadors*. [online] Available at: http://www.gasp.nu/ambassadors/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Gasp.nu. (n.d.). *GASP - Company*. [online] Available at: http://www.gasp.nu/company/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Gasp.nu. (n.d.). *GASP - News*. [online] Available at: http://www.gasp.nu/news/ [Accessed 23 May 2016]. Gasp.nu. (n.d.). *GASP*. [online] Available at: http://www.gasp.nu/company/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Giang, V. (2012). *How Zumba Became The Largest Fitness Brand In The World*. [online] Business Insider. Available at: http://www.businessinsider.com/how-zumbabecame-the-largest-fitness-brand-in-the-world-2012-12?op=1&IR=T [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Godoy, J. (2015). *Monster Energy Says Chinese E-Retailers Ripping Off Brand*. [online] Law360.com. Available at: http://www.law360.com/articles/655047/monsterenergy-says-chinese-e-retailers-ripping-off-brand [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Gold, K. (2013). *Herschel Supply has it in the bag*. [online] Marketingmag.ca. Available at: http://www.marketingmag.ca/brands/herschel-supply-has-it-in-the-bag-91994 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Grill, J. (2014). *The Art of Shaving Takes The Art of Marketing To A New Level*. [online] The Rogue Marketer. Available at: http://www.theroguemarketer.com/2014/01/the-art-of-shaving-takes-the-art-ofmarketing-to-a-new-level.html [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Guba, E. and Lincoln, Y. (2013). *Constructivist Credo*. Walnut Creek: Left Coast Press, pp.104-105.

Haldemann, Dr. A. (2015). *The Beauty of Aesop: A Story of Un-Branding*. [online] The Huffington Post. Available at: http://www.huffingtonpost.com/dr-alexander-haldemann/the-beauty-of-aesop-a-sto_b_6598486.html [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Hall, C. (2014). *An interview with Jordan Schau of Pure Fix Cycles about .BIKE, new gTLDs and fixies*. [online] Iwantmyname.com. Available at: https://iwantmyname.com/blog/2014/02/an-interview-with-jordan-schau-of-pure-fix-cycles-about-bike-new-gtlds-and-fixies.html [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Hanspers, E. (2012). *Cheap Monday smygsläpper kollektion*. [online] Dagens Media. Available at: http://www.dagensmedia.se/marknadsforing/kampanjer/cheap-monday-smygslapper-kollektion-6133026 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Happy Plugs. (n.d.). *About Us - Happy Plugs* [online] Available at: https://happyplugs.com/about-us/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Happy Plugs. (n.d.). *Earbud*. [online] Available at: https://happyplugs.com/product-category/headphones/earbud/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Happy Plugs. (n.d.). *Happy Plugs Earbud Champagne*. [online] Available at: https://happyplugs.com/product/earbud-champagne/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Happysocks.com. (n.d.). *Herrstrumpor hos Happy Socks*®.. [online] Available at: https://www.happysocks.com/se/men/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Heiden, B. (2015). *Defining Knowledge-Based Business - The Firm, the Market, and Competitive Advantage*.

Heiden, B. (2015). *Knowledge Based Business Development and Management –An Intellectual Value Chain Simulation*.

Held, L. (2013). *9 New York City cycling studios that aren't SoulCycle or Flywheel*. [online] Well+Good. Available at: http://www.wellandgood.com/good-sweat/9-newyork-city-cycling-studios-that-arent-soulcycle-or-flywheel/slide/8/ [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Herschel Supply Co USA. (n.d.). *Backpacks*. [online] Available at: http://shop.herschelsupply.com/collections/backpacks [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Herschel Supply Co USA. (n.d.). *Herschel Supply Co.*. [online] Available at: http://shop.herschelsupply.com/?_ga=1.142858613.1515191604.1462561170 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Hill, S., McGrath, J. and Dayal, S. (1998). How to Brand Sand. *Strategy* + *Business* (originally published by Booz & Company), (11).

Holmlund, P. (2013). *Hungrig hälsorebell gillar motstånd*. [online] Entreprenör. Available at: http://www.entreprenor.se/entreprenorer/hungrig-halsorebell-gillar-motstand_574058.html [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Husted Sylvest, P. (2015). *Instagram photo - #firstfixforfree*. [online] Instagram. Available at: https://www.instagram.com/p/8HwehAN0mr/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Husted Sylvest, P. (2016). *COOL PEOPLE WANTED - LAKRIDS by Johan Bülow, Denmark*. [online] Linkedin.com. Available at: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/cool-people-wanted-lakrids-johan-b%C3%BClow-denmark-peter-husted-sylvest [Accessed 23 May 2016].

iagegracefully. (2015). *Daniel Wellington – A Social Media Golden Child*. [online] Available at: http://iagegracefully.com/2015/04/26/daniel-wellington-a-social-media-golden-child/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Inc.com. (n.d.). *How Two Friends Built a \$100 Million Company*. [online] Available at: http://www.inc.com/ss/how-two-friends-built-100-million-company [Accessed 23 May 2016].

innocent. (2009). *innocent - village fête*. [online] Available at: http://www.innocentdrinks.co.uk/blog/village-fete [Accessed 23 May 2016].

innocent. (n.d.). *innocent - blog*. [online] Available at: http://www.innocentdrinks.co.uk/blog [Accessed 23 May 2016].

innocent. (n.d.). *innocent - our story*. [online] Available at: http://www.innocentdrinks.co.uk/us/our-story [Accessed 23 May 2016]. Instructables.com. (2010). *Is there anywhere that sells moleskine sketchbooks on the cheap?*. [online] Available at: http://www.instructables.com/answers/Is-there-anywhere-that-sells-moleskine-sketchbooks/ [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Into The Gloss. (2016). *Michael Gordon, Editor In Chief, Hairstory*. [online] Available at: https://intothegloss.com/2016/01/michael-gordon-hair/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Ippractice.ca. (2015). *HERSCHEL SUPPLY COMPANY LTD. v. LANDAU SACAMOTO INC.*. [online] Available at: http://www.ippractice.ca/filebrowser/?fileno=T-491-15 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Ippractice.ca. (2015). *HERSCHEL SUPPLY COMPANY LTD. v. WILL-LAND OUTDOOR SUPPLY LTD.* [online] Available at: http://www.ippractice.ca/file-browser/?fileno=T-504-15 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

J.Crew. (n.d.). *The Laundress New York*® *for J.Crew collars & cuffs stain bar*. [online] Available at: https://www.jcrew.com/se/mens_category/accessories/grooming/PRDOVR~28112/28

112.jsp [Accessed 24 May 2016].

J.Crew. (n.d.). *The Laundress New York*® *for J.Crew sweater comb*. [online] Available at: https://www.jcrew.com/se/womens_category/ingoodcompany/laundress/PRDOVR~3 9237/39237.jsp [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Jakarta Globe. (n.d.). *Fiji Water, a Branding Success Story* | *Jakarta Globe*. [online] Available at: http://jakartaglobe.beritasatu.com/archive/fiji-water-a-branding-success-story/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Jhrlegal.com. (2013). *Infringement of Voss's Water Bottle Container*. [online] Available at: http://www.jhrlegal.com/infringement-of-voss-water-bottle/ [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Johansson, C. (2013). "Vi gör fredagskalsonger för hela veckan". [online] Allt om Stockholm. Available at: http://www.alltomstockholm.se/shoppingmode/article4067811.aos [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Josephs, M. (2016). *The Little Black Book of Billionaire Secrets What Does Chobani's Founder Get For Giving 10% Of His Company To Workers?*. [online] Forbes.com. Available at: http://www.forbes.com/sites/maryjosephs/2016/04/29/what-does-chobanis-founder-get-for-giving-10-of-his-company-to-workers/#6a0f701231de [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Julander, O. (2006). *Nu ska vi klä oss billigt*. [online] Expressen - Allt om mode. Available at: http://www.expressen.se/mode/nu-ska-vi-kla-oss-billigt/ [Accessed 23 May 2016]. Just-auto.com. (2001). *Nissan begins Muji car sales*. [online] Available at: http://www.just-auto.com/news/nissan-begins-muji-car-sales_id79597.aspx [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Justia Dockets & Filings. (2015). *The Gem Group Inc. v. Herschel Supply Company LTD*. [online] Available at: https://dockets.justia.com/docket/massachusetts/madce/1:2015cv12177/171050 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Karjalainen, T. (2007). It Looks Like a Toyota: Educational Approaches to Designing for Visual Brand Recognition. *International Journal of Design1.1*, 1(1), pp.67-81.

Keller, K., Apéria, T. and Georgson, M. (2008). *Strategic Brand Management - A European Perspective*. 2nd ed. Harlow: Prentice Hall Financial Times.

Khermouch, G. (2007). *Mark Hall, Hansen's Natural/Monster Beverage*. [online] AdWeek. Available at: http://www.adweek.com/news/2007/mark-hall-hansens-naturalmonster-beverage-94464 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Kiepels, C. (2014). *Happy Socks: "Webben är det som växer snabbast"*. [online] di.se. Available at: http://www.di.se/gasell/artiklar/2014/12/4/happy-socks-webben-ar-det-som-vaxer-snabbast/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Kilcooley-O'Halloran, S. (2014). *Cheap Monday: More Than Skinny Jeans*. [online] Vogue UK. Available at: http://www.vogue.co.uk/news/2014/08/29/cheap-monday-ann-sofie-back-tenth-anniversary [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Knight, S. (2015). *Muji is collaborating with Japan's housing agency to makeover old apartments*. [online] Quartz. Available at: http://qz.com/490730/muji-is-redesigning-tokyos-cheap-estate-housing-as-a-hip-lifestyle-choice/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Ladieswholaunch.com. (2007). *Lara Merriken - Ladies Who Launch*. [online] Available at: http://www.ladieswholaunch.com/magazine/1264/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Lakrids by Johan Bülow. (2016). *Lakrids i maden*. [online] Available at: http://lakrids.nu/collections/lakrids-i-maden [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Lakrids by Johan Bülow. (2016). *SUMMER - Lakrids by Johan Bülow*. [online] Available at: http://lakrids.nu/collections/summer-2016 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Lakrids by Johan Bülow. (n.d.). *Lakrids by Johan Bülow*. [online] Available at: http://lakrids.nu/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Lakrids by Johan Bülow. (n.d.). *Lakrids med chokolade*. [online] Available at: http://lakrids.nu/collections/chokolade-lakrids [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Larabar.ca. (n.d.). *Lärabar - Ambassador Gudelines & FAQs*. [online] Available at: http://www.larabar.ca/programs/ambassadors/guidelines-and-faqs [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Larabar.com. (n.d.). *Lärabar - Brand*. [online] Available at: https://www.larabar.com/our-story/brand [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Larabar.com. (n.d.). *LÄRABAR - Our Products*. [online] Available at: https://www.larabar.com/our-products/larabar [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Larabar.com. (n.d.). *Lärabar - Special Diets*. [online] Available at: https://www.larabar.com/our-products/special-diets [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Le Mystère. (2014). *The Laundress Founders*. [online] Available at: http://www.lemystere.com/blog/2014/11/04/the-laundress-founders/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Lepore, M. (2015). *17 Signs A SoulCycle Front Row Seat Is Your Destiny*. [online] Bustle.com. Available at: http://www.bustle.com/articles/67206-17-signs-a-soulcycle-front-row-seat-is-your-destiny [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Levin, E. (2013). *Art of Shaving Collaboration* + *The Sartorialist*. [online] FashFoodies. Available at: http://fashfoodies.com/portrait-life-scott-schuman/#.VyeGFqOLRE4 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Levitt, T. (1980). Marketing Success Through Differentiation—of Anything. *Harvard Business Review*, 58(1), pp.83-91.

Lindsay, G. (2006). *The Art of Shaving's strategy: A cut above*. [online] Business 2.0 Magazine. Available at: http://money.cnn.com/2006/06/22/magazines/business2/artofshaving.biz2/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Liquorice by Johan Bülow. (n.d.). *The story of Lakrids by Johan Bülow*. [online] Available at: http://liquorice.nu/blogs/the-story-of-lakrids-by-johan-bulow/50319173-the-story-of-lakrids-by-johan-bulow [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Low, E. (2015). *Muji gets on café marketing strategy in Singapore*. [online] Marketing Interactive. Available at: http://www.marketing-interactive.com/muji-getscafe-marketing-strategy-singapore/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Löfgren, C. (2013). *Hörlursdesign fick skydd, men det räckte inte för att hindra konkurrent - BrandNews.se.* [online] Brandnews.se. Available at: http://www.brandnews.se/horlursdesign-fick-skydd-men-det-rackte-inte-for-att-hindra-konkurrent [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Martin Roll. (2014). *Fiji Water – The exotic water brand*. [online] Available at: http://martinroll.com/resources/articles/branding/fiji-water-exotic-water-brand/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Mathew, A. (n.d.). *American Apparel Success Story*. [online] Successstory.com. Available at: http://successstory.com/companies/american-apparel [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Mau, D. (2015). *How Two Friends Ditched Their Fashion Jobs to Start The Laundress*. [online] Fashionista.com. Available at: http://fashionista.com/2015/12/the-laundress [Accessed 24 May 2016].

McCahill, L. (2013). *The amazing Innocent Drinks startup story*. [online] The Happy Startup School – A better way to build a startup. Available at: https://thehappystartupschool.wordpress.com/2013/01/21/the-innocent-drinks-startup-story/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Mednik, M. (2011). *The Story of Larabar*. [online] Max Mednik. Available at: http://www.maxmednik.com/home/the-story-of-larabar [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Merriken, L. (2012). *How I Did It: Lara Merriken, Founder of LÄRABAR*. [online] Maria Shriver. Available at: http://mariashriver.com/blog/2012/07/how-i-did-it-lara-merriken-founder-of-larabar/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

method. (n.d.). *method - our story*. [online] Available at: http://methodhome.com/about-us/our-story/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

method. (n.d.). *method - shop*. [online] Available at: http://methodhome.com/shop/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

method. (n.d.). *method hand wash*. [online] Available at: http://methodhome.com/product-category/hand-wash/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

method. (n.d.). *method laundry detergent*. [online] Available at: http://methodhome.com/product-category/detergent/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Miscellany One. (2013). *Real vs. Fake: Moleskines*. [online] Available at: http://miscellanyone.weebly.com/blog/real-vs-fake-war-of-the-moleskines [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Monster Energy Drinks. (2007). *Monster Energy Drink's Marketing Strategy*. [online] Available at: https://monsterenergydrink.wordpress.com/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Monsterenergy.com. (n.d.). *Monster Assault*. [online] Available at: https://www.monsterenergy.com/se/sv/products/monster-energy/# [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Monsterenergy.com. (n.d.). *Monster Energy*. [online] Available at: https://www.monsterenergy.com/us/en/home/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Monsterenergy.com. (n.d.). *Monster The Doctor*. [online] Available at: https://www.monsterenergy.com/se/sv/products/monster-energy/#!/products%3Athe-doctor-21 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Montague, T. (2013). *The Rise Of Storydoing: Inside The Staggering Success Of Toms Shoes*. [online] Fast Company. Available at:

http://www.fastcompany.com/3015209/leadership-now/the-rise-of-storydoing-inside-the-staggering-success-of-toms-shoes [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Moorethought.co.uk. (2015). *BOLD MODERN JEANSWEAR - Moore Thought*. [online] Available at: http://www.moorethought.co.uk/bold-modern-jeanswear/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Muji.de. (n.d.). *manufactured by THONET*. [online] Available at: https://www.muji.de/en/store/category/furnitureandelectronics/thonet/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Muji.eu. (n.d.). *About MUJI*. [online] Available at: http://www.muji.eu/pages/about.asp [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Navratil, S. (2007). *Larabar: A Case Study In How To Build An Amazing Company*. [online] Zoomstart.com. Available at: http://www.zoomstart.com/larabar-case-study/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Needleman, S. (2012). *Old Factory, Snap Decision Spawn Greek-Yogurt Craze*. [online] WSJ. Available at: http://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052702303379204577476974123310582 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

NET-A-PORTER. (n.d.). *The Super Elixir*. [online] Available at: https://www.net-aporter.com/se/en/product/553074/The_Super_Elixir/the-super-elixir-with-caddy-300g?cm_mmc=LinkshareUK-_-QFGLnEolOWg-_-Custom-_-LinkBuilder&siteID=QFGLnEolOWg-A.hq6ZKPYPt47_cAkug9lQ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Newman, A. (2010). *A Lucky Few, This Band of Brothers, and the Less Blood Shed the Better*. [online] Nytimes.com. Available at: http://www.nytimes.com/2010/11/18/business/media/18adco.html?_r=0 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Nguyen, K. (2014). *american apparel x nathalie du pasquier*. [online] NYLON. Available at: http://www.nylon.com/articles/american-apparel-nathalie-du-pasquier-collaboration [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Nightingale. (n.d.). *Bread & Boxers*. [online] Available at: http://nightingale.be/cases/bread-boxers [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Nilsson, T. (2014). *Därför rekordväxer hans bolag*. [online] Veckans affärer. Available at: http://www.va.se/nyheter/2014/06/13/darfor-rekordvaxer-hans-bolag/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Nintendo.com. (2010). *Zumba Fitness for Wii*. [online] Available at: http://www.nintendo.com/games/detail/-FOSxZ4HnQ8aIhdzTi2FOdiNi1TysKY-[Accessed 24 May 2016]. Nordiska Kompaniet, (2014). Exklusivt på NK - Bread & Boxers teamar upp med Henrik Lundqvist.

Notey. (n.d.). *The Best Larabar Blogs - Notey*. [online] Available at: http://www.notey.com/blogs/larabar [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Novagraaf.com. (2013). *The shape and design of a bottle*. [online] Available at: http://www.novagraaf.com/en/news/news-about-designs?newspath=/NewsItems/en/the-shape-and-design-of-a-bottle [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Nowlis, S. and Simonson, I. (1996). The Effect of New Product Features on Brand Choice. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 33(1), p.36-46.

NYMag.com. (n.d.). *Marital Bliss*. [online] Available at: http://nymag.com/nymetro/news/bizfinance/columns/bottomline/1660/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

O'Reilly, L. (2014). *15 Things Hardly Anyone Knows About Innocent Smoothies*. [online] Business Insider. Available at: http://uk.businessinsider.com/unusual-factsabout-innocent-smoothies-2014-12?r=US&IR=T [Accessed 23 May 2016].

O'Reilly, L. (2011). *Innocent's "David vs Goliath" trademark battle reaches resolution*. [online] Marketing Week. Available at: http://www.marketingweek.com/2011/08/16/innocents-david-vs-goliath-trademark-battle-reaches-resolution/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

ODD ONE OUT. (n.d.). *ODD ONE OUT*. [online] Available at: https://oddoneout.hk/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Patch.com. (2013). *Meet the Founders of Soul Cycle: Find Out How They Grew Their Small Business Into An Exercise Phenomenon*. [online] Available at: http://patch.com/new-york/parkslope/meet-founders-soul-cycle-find-out-how-they-grew-their-small-business-exercise-phenomenon [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Pathak, S. (2015). *How SoulCycle's instructors spin a smart social strategy*. [online] Digiday. Available at: http://digiday.com/brands/soulcycles-instructors-spin-smart-social-strategy/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Pathak, S. (2015). *Inside Moleskine's unlikely digital age success story*. [online] Digiday. Available at: http://digiday.com/brands/moleskines-analog-meets-digital-strategy/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Pennington, A. (2005). *Close Shave*. [online] Entrepreneur. Available at: https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/77746 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Petrusson, U. (2004). *Intellectual Property & Entrepreneurship - Creating Wealth in an Intellectual Value Chain*. Gothenburg: Center for Intellectual Property Studies, p.76.

Pfeiffer, A. (2010). *How Cheap Monday is Conquering The World with Bondage, Affordable Denim & Customization (Not Necessarily in That order).* [online] Fashionista.com. Available at: http://fashionista.com/2010/05/why-cheap-monday-isconquering-the-world-with-bondage-affordable-denim-customization-not-necessarilyin-that-order [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Poh, J. (2012). *Happy Feet: An Interview with Viktor Tell and Mikael Soderlindh of Happy Socks*. [online] Hypebeast. Available at: http://hypebeast.com/2012/11/happy-feet-an-interview-with-viktor-tell-and-mikael-soderlindh-of-happy-socks [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Poisuo, P. (2012). *5 World-Famous Products That Are Shameless Rip-Offs*. [online] Cracked.com. Available at: http://www.cracked.com/article_20025_5-world-famous-products-that-are-shameless-rip-offs_p2.html [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Prasso, S. (2011). *Chobani: The unlikely king of yogurt*. [online] fortune. Available at: http://archive.fortune.com/2011/11/29/smallbusiness/chobani_yogurt_hamdi_ulukaya. fortune/index.htm [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Prnewswire.com. (2014). *Bread & Boxers Announces Partnership with Henrik Lundqvist*. [online] Available at: http://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/bread-boxers-announces-partnership-with-henrik-lundqvist-238868221.html [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Pulvirent, S. (2015). *How Daniel Wellington Made a \$200 Million Business Out of Cheap Watches*. [online] Bloomberg.com. Available at: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-07-14/how-daniel-wellington-made-a-200-million-business-out-of-cheap-watches [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Pure Fix Cycles. (n.d.). *About Pure Fix Cycles*. [online] Available at: https://www.purefixcycles.com/pages/about-pure-fix-cycles [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Pure Fix Cycles. (n.d.). *Charity: Water*. [online] Available at: https://www.purefixcycles.com/pages/charity-water [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Raphel, A. (2014). *The Virtual Moleskine*. [online] The New Yorker. Available at: http://www.newyorker.com/business/currency/the-virtual-moleskine [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Raudonis, N. (2010). Larabar. [Blog] *Simply Nicole*. Available at: http://www.simply-nicole.com/larabar/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Reneevoltaire.se. (n.d.). *Renée Voltaire - Här finns vi*. [online] Available at: http://www.reneevoltaire.se/aktuellt/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Reneevoltaire.se. (n.d.). *Renée Voltaire - Om företaget*. [online] Available at: https://www.reneevoltaire.se/om-foretaget/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Reneevoltaire.se. (n.d.). *Renée Voltaire - Press*. [online] Available at: http://www.reneevoltaire.se/om-foretaget/press/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Ritson, M. (2008). *Great Brands Can Afford Elitist Touch*. [online] Branding Strategy Insider. Available at: http://www.brandingstrategyinsider.com/2008/03/great-brands-ca.html#.VuFNWpPhBE4 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Rosell, A. (2010). *Billig mat är dålig mat*. [online] Livinggreen.se. Available at: http://livinggreen.se/intervju/342-billig-mat-aer-dalig-mat [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Rubin, C. (2010). *Building England's Ethical, Healthy, and Slightly Cheeky Beverage Brand*. [online] Inc.com. Available at: http://www.inc.com/articles/2010/07/building-englands-favorite-smoothie-company.html [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Rubin, C. (2015). *A Race to the Front Row*. [online] Nytimes.com. Available at: http://www.nytimes.com/2015/01/08/style/a-race-to-the-front-row.html [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Ryssdal, K. (2013). *Moleskine's CEO on paper's advantages (and how to pronounce Moleskine)*. [online] Marketplace.org. Available at: http://www.marketplace.org/2013/05/20/business/corner-office/moleskines-ceo-papers-advantages-and-how-pronounce-moleskine [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Sanchanta, M. (2005). *Muji fights to use own name in China*. [online] Financial Times. Available at: http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/e5efe030-dcc0-11d9-b590-00000e2511c8.html#axzz48NtCC0PN [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Schori, M. (2011). ... *Men Cheap Monday ratar reklamen*. [online] Dagens Media. Available at: http://www.dagensmedia.se/marknadsforing/strategi-analys/men-cheap-monday-ratar-reklamen-6177246 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Schwartz, A. (2013). *Watch This Artist In A Glass Box Make You Custom Toms Shoes On Demand*. [online] Co.Exist. Available at: http://www.fastcoexist.com/1682687/watch-this-artist-in-a-glass-box-make-youcustom-toms-shoes-on-demand/2 [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Sephora. (n.d.). *The Art of Shaving - Behind the Brand*. [online] Available at: http://www.sephora.com/the-art-shaving-behind-brand [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Simonson, I., Carmon, Z. and O'Curry, S. (1994). Experimental Evidence on the Negative Effect of Product Features and Sales Promotions on Brand Choice. *Marketing Science*, 13(1), pp.23-40.

Sinks, T. (2015). *What The Super Elixir Taught Me About "Wellness" - Whatever That Is*. [online] Xojane.com. Available at: http://www.xojane.com/beauty/super-elixir-review [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Sjepstein.com. (n.d.). *Method-Disney Gift Pack*. [online] Available at: http://www.sjepstein.com/portfolio/item/method-disney/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Slind-Flor, V. (2015). *Google, Voss, Macy's Brands, Dish: Intellectual Property.* [online] Bloomberg.com. Available at:

http://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2015-01-22/google-voss-macy-s-brandsdish-intellectual-property [Accessed 25 May 2016].

SmartCEO. (2014). *New York Brava! Winner*. [online] Available at: http://www.smartceo.com/2014-new-york-brava-whiting-boyd/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Snickars, J. (2014). *Happy days för svenska varumärket Happy Plugs*. [online] Snicksnacka.se. Available at: http://www.snicksnacka.se/2014/04/happy-days-for-happy-plugs.html [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Sorrells, M. (2012). *How Fiji Water Got 25,000 Consumers to Try Its Product*. [online] BizBash. Available at:

http://www.bizbash.com/how_fiji_water_got_25_000_consumers_to_try_its_product/ new-york/story/24304/#.VuFNX5PhBE4 [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Soul-cycle.com. (2016). *SoulCycle X Target*. [online] Available at: https://www.soul-cycle.com/target/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Soul-cycle.com. (n.d.). *Soul Classes*. [online] Available at: https://www.soul-cycle.com/about/soul-classes/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Steele, C. (2015). *Innocent Drinks win "Dude" case*. [online] Ashfords LLP. Available at: http://www.ashfords.co.uk/innocent-drinks-win-dude-case/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Store.americanapparel.net. (n.d.). *Peter Max* | *American Apparel*. [online] Available at: http://store.americanapparel.net/en/peter-max_cat1590060 [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Store.americanapparel.net. (n.d.). *Women's Best Sellers* | *American Apparel*. [online] Available at: http://store.americanapparel.net/en/women-s-best-sellers_cat2150198 [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Store.fijiwater.com. (n.d.). *Bottled Water Delivery for Home & Office* | *FIJI Water*. [online] Available at: https://store.fijiwater.com/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Sun, P. (2010). Differentiating high involved product by trivial attributes for product line extension strategy. *European Journal of Marketing*, 44(11/12), pp.1557-1575.

SvD.se. (2008). *Helgprojektet blev en miljonindustri*. [online] Available at: http://www.svd.se/helgprojektet-blev-en-miljonindustri [Accessed 23 May 2016].

TakePart. (2014). *This Simple At-Home Solution Could Make Dry Cleaners Obsolete*. [online] Available at: http://www.takepart.com/feature/2014/11/05/gwen-whiting-and-lindsey-j-boyd-in-her-company [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Taylor, S. (2013). *Behind the Brand: Soap and Glory*. [online] Getthegloss.com. Available at: http://www.getthegloss.com/behind-the-brand/behind-the-brand-soap-and-glory [Accessed 22 May 2016].

The Art of Shaving. (n.d.). *The Art of Shaving - The Four Elements of The Perfect Shave*. [online] Available at: http://experience.theartofshaving.com/fourelements [Accessed 24 May 2016].

The Beauty Shortlist. (2014). *ELLE MACPHERSON'S The Super Elixir*TM *launches at Selfridges*. [online] Available at: http://www.thebeautyshortlist.com/2014/05/22/elle-macphersons-the-super-elixir-launches-at-selfridges/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

The Laundress Blog. (2015). *The Laundress for J. Crew*. [online] Available at: http://blog.thelaundress.com/wordpress/2015/01/16/the-laundress-j-crew-agree/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

The Laundress. (n.d.). *The Laundress - Our Story*. [online] Available at: https://www.thelaundress.com/our-story/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

The Laundress. (n.d.). *The Laundress & Le Labo Rose 31 Signature Detergent*. [online] Available at: http://www.thelaundress.com/le-labo-rose-31-signature-detergent [Accessed 24 May 2016].

The Laundress. (n.d.). *The Laundress*. [online] Available at: http://www.thelaundress.com [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Theartofshaving.com. (n.d.). *Email Signup*. [online] Available at: https://www.theartofshaving.com/on/demandware.store/Sites-TAOS-Site/default/EmailSignup-Show [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Theartofshaving.com. (n.d.). *The Art of Shaving*. [online] Available at: http://www.theartofshaving.com/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Thegoodstube.com. (2012). *10 million pairs of Happy Socks and counting*.. [online] Available at: http://www.thegoodstube.com/reports/view/10-million-pairs-of-happy-socks-and-counting [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Tomlin, A. (2013). *Kate Spade Saturday Is Bringing Us Major Bliss*. [online] Refinery29. Available at: http://www.refinery29.com/2013/12/58789/bliss-kate-spade-saturday [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Toms.com. (n.d.). *The One for One Company - TOMS*. [online] Available at: http://www.toms.com/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Urbanears official website. (n.d.). *Headphones and earbuds*. [online] Available at: https://www.urbanears.com/ue_se_en/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

useful + agreeable. (2009). *MUJI*. [online] Available at: http://web.archive.org/web/20090527173256/http://www.usefulandagreeable.com/mu ji.html [Accessed 23 May 2016]. Uspto.gov. (2014). General Information Concerning Patents - What Are Patents, Trademarks, Servicemarks, and Copyrights?. [online] Available at: http://www.uspto.gov/patents-getting-started/general-information-concerningpatents#heading-2 [Accessed 22 May 2016].

VII, K. (2015). *Eat.dress.blog: Spotting a real and fake American Apparel tennis skirt?*. [online] Eatdressblog.blogspot.se. Available at: http://eatdressblog.blogspot.se/2015/07/spotting-real-and-fake-american-apparel.html [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Voss World. (2012). VOSS Story. [online] Available at: https://vossworld.wordpress.com/2012/06/21/message-in-the-bottle-2/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Vosswater.com. (n.d.). *VOSS World - Products*. [online] Available at: https://www.vosswater.com/index.php/products/still-nutrition/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Weiss, Z. (2015). *Want to Wear the Same Underwear as Henrik Lundqvist*?. [online] Observer. Available at: http://observer.com/2015/09/want-to-wear-the-same-underwear-as-henrik-lundqvist/ [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Welleco.com. (n.d.). *THE SUPER ELIXIR*TM. [online] Available at: http://www.welleco.com/collections/alkalising-greens/products/the-super-elixir-300gwith-caddy [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Welleco.com. (n.d.). *WelleCo.com - Alkalising Greens*. [online] Available at: http://www.welleco.com/collections/alkalising-greens [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Welleco.com. (n.d.). *WelleCo.com - Nourishing Protein*. [online] Available at: http://www.welleco.com/collections/nourishing-protein [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Welleco.com. (n.d.). *WelleCo.com - Our Story*. [online] Available at: http://www.welleco.com/pages/our-story [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Welleco.com. (n.d.). *WelleCo.com - Stockists*. [online] Available at: http://www.welleco.com/pages/welleco-stockists [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Welleco.com. (n.d.). *WelleCo.com*. [online] Available at: http://www.welleco.com/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

wikiHow. (n.d.). *How to Identify Fake Toms Shoes*. [online] Available at: http://www.wikihow.com/Identify-Fake-Toms-Shoes [Accessed 25 May 2016].

Williams, D. (2004). Creating brand identity for generic products. *J Generic Med*, 1(4), pp.347-352.

Winberg, Y. (2014). *Så byggde Happy Socks upp sitt varumärke*. [online] Resume.se. Available at: http://www.resume.se/nyheter/artiklar/2014/12/02/sa-byggde-happy-socks-upp-sitt-varumarke/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Wolff, N. (2015). *Luxe Laundry Is Actually a Thing*. [online] DuJour. Available at: http://dujour.com/cities/laundress-soho-new-york-city-store-opening/ [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Woods, A. (2006). *Innocent Drinks: How Innocent keeps relations fresh*. [online] Marketingmagazine.co.uk. Available at:

http://www.marketingmagazine.co.uk/article/607736/innocent-drinks-innocent-keeps-relations-fresh [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Xovain.com. (2014). *How To Spot Fake Salon Products At The Drugstore*. [online] Available at: http://www.xovain.com/hair/how-to-spot-fake-salon-products-at-the-drugstore [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Yi, D. (2016). *You can now order American Apparel like pizza delivery*. [online] Mashable. Available at: http://mashable.com/2016/03/22/american-apparel-one-hour-service/#QVwhqSfCRSqM [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Young, K. (2014). *Elle Macpherson introduces The Super Elixir*. [online] Fashion.telegraph.co.uk. Available at: http://fashion.telegraph.co.uk/videos/TMG10831165/Elle-Macpherson-introduces-The-Super-Elixir.html [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Zackrisson, M. (2015). "Alla sa att jag var helt korkad som ville göra det här". [online] Veckans affärer. Available at: http://www.va.se/nyheter/2015/05/28/alla-saatt-jag-var-helt-korkad-som-ville-gora-det-har/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Zackrisson, M. (2015). *40 - Andreas Vural, grundare och vd Happy Plugs* | *Startuppodden*. [online] Startuppodden.se. Available at: http://www.startuppodden.se/2015/05/40-andreas-vural-grundare-och-vd-happy-plugs/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Zerbo, J. (2015). *How American Apparel became fashion's most provocative brand*. [online] Dazed. Available at: http://www.dazeddigital.com/fashion/article/28779/1/abrief-history-of-american-apparel [Accessed 22 May 2016].

Zoeller, S. (2016). *Positioning Strategy for a New Energy Drink Brand*. [online] Stephen Zoeller's Marketing Blog. Available at: http://www.stephenzoeller.com/positioning-strategy-new-energy-drink-brand/ [Accessed 23 May 2016].

Zumba.com. (n.d.). *Bring Zumba to Your Facility*. [online] Available at: https://www.zumba.com/en-US/clubs/zumba_at_my_club [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Zumba.com. (n.d.). *Zumba - Find Classes and Events*. [online] Available at: https://www.zumba.com/en-

US/event/search?event_type=all&search=G%F6teborg%2C+28%2C+SE&formatted_address=G%F6teborg%2C+28%2C+SE&lat=57.707&lng=11.967&distance=25&dist ance_unit=mi [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Zumba.com. (n.d.). *Zumba Fitness*. [online] Available at: https://www.zumba.com/en-US [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Zumba.tlw.hu. (n.d.). *History of ZUMBA*. [online] Available at: http://zumba.tlw.hu/en/history-of-zumba.html [Accessed 24 May 2016].

Appendix I

The following data has been used for the study, presented in the thesis above. The following data also contains quotes and in some cases direct translations. More information about the sources can be found in Chapter 7. References.

Company	aesop
Founder's background	Hair-dresser (Fairs, 2012)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	poetic skincare brand with a focus on both
	organic and artificial (but always the best)
	ingredients, mild and respectful to nature and
	people and with an interest in the intellectual
	and artistic world. (Aesop, n.d.; Haldemann,
Concept Development	2015)
	Lucy McRae (body architect) for making a
Creative collaborations	collaborative artsy short film (Aesop.com, n.d.)
	Partnered with gallery Odd One Out to present
	an exhibition (ODD ONE OUT, n.d.)
	Partnered with gallery Odd One Out to present
	an exhibition (ODD ONE OUT, n.d.)
	skin-care products (including hair & body) that
	are made only of the best botanical ingredients,
Product development	focus on antioxidants.
	Emphasize on research and being independent
	and not tied to any specific research center. As
	a result, they have their own lab (Aesop.com,
	n.d.)
	All products are made in Australia (Aesop.com, n.d.)
	it started with hair-care while the founder was
	still a hair-dresser and then developed into
"Strategies"	more. (Fairs, 2012)
	First in Australia, then expanded to other
	countries. (Fairs, 2012)
	Each store should be unique and a part of its
	surroundings. (Fairs, 2012)
	it started with hair-care while the founder was
	still a hair-dresser and then developed into
Launch	more. (Fairs, 2012)
Sales channels / Distribution	Sold online, in their own stores and at
channels	selected resellers (Aesop.com, n.d.)
	Much thought is put int the stores'
	designs, taking up the vibe of the locations
	surrounding instead of having a fixed store
	design. They also have a website dedicated
	to the store designt, called Taxonomy of
	Design (Aesop - Taxonomy of Design, n.d.)
	Design (Aesop - ratorionity of Design, n.u.)
Marketing/PR	Artistic films, (Aesop.com, n.d.)
--------------------	---
	Aesop Nasotèque: An installation shown in one
	of their shopping windows (Aesop.com, n.d.)
	The Fabulist: An online "magazine" featuring
	writer's articles and stories. Each issue has the
	same categories, named to seem related to
	Aesop products but in fact having nothing to do
	with the brand. (Aesop.com, n.d.)
	nonaggressive and quiet marketing - no
	advertising (Haldemann, 2015)
	All stores are unique, adapted to their
	environment (Fairs, 2012; Haldemann, 2015)
Control activities	trademarks and service marks

Company	American Apparel
Design attributes	
other than logotypes	"standardized" single-colored clothes
and labels	(Store.americanapparel.net, n.d.)
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Controversially advertized, mid-priced, "plain" garments
Concept development	manufactured solely in America
	American Apparel has a limited edition collection where the
Creative	garments have prints inspired by the American artist Peter
collaborations	Max.
	A collection in collaboration with French designer and
	artistNathalie du Pasquier
	From importing T-shirts made in the US to Canada to
Product development	
	60 minute-delivery of basic garments
	All clothes are made in the western world and manufacturers
	are paid higher than the minimum wage. thanks to the "local"
	production, the brand can more quickly react to trends.
"Strategies"	(Mathew, n.d.)
Ollalegies	The brand's controversial advertizing and aesthetics became
	so established that it became more of its "trademark" than their
	social responsibility actions.
	No logos
	Started as a spare-time project, importing USA-made T-shirts
	with a vintage feel to sell in Canada.
Launch	(Mathew, n.d.; Zerbo, 2015)
Launch	Initially sold through wholesale
Sales channels /	Initially soled through wholesale
Distribution channels	
	Online and through the brand's own stores, opening too
	many too fast in order to grow brand awareness, which
	led to a need to close down several stores
	(Zerbo, 2015)
	Controversial advertizing with photographs of girls, with very
	little - if any - clothes on, taken in an undone snap shot-style,
	without photoshopping. (This eventually went over board as
	American Apparel's models got less and less clothes with more
Marketing/PR	and more suggestive poses over time)
	The models were, the brand argues, "real people", working in
	the Americal Apparel stores, found through their website,
	friends of the owner or similar
	(Zerbo, 2015)
Control activities	Trademarks
Similar products /	
disputes	A lot of counterfeit products (VII, 2015)

Company	blis spa
Founder's	
background	Personal trainer
Design attributes	
other than	
logotypes and	
labels	_
Irrelevant attribute	Poetic waxing (Blissworld.com, n.d.)
	Sprung from the founder's own acne-prone skin and how badly
Concept	treated she felt by the facialist when getting a facial, Bliss SPA is SPA
Development	chain with a product line sold at resellers and online. (Evans, 2012)
	There's a lot of humor and puns in the products'
	names (NYMag.com, n.d.; Blissworld.com, n.d.)
Creative	
collaborations	Kate Spade make up case (Tomlin, 2013)
Product	The product development is driven from the expertise and knowledge
development	acquired in the spas (Blissworld.com, n.d.)
	Sought-after SPA with a star clientele and available products for
	every woman to have her own Bliss Spa experience (Blissworld.com,
"Strategies"	n.d.)
	Combining different products to perfectly suit the Spa-goer's needs
	lead to increased sales (NYMag.com, n.d.)
	Word-of-mouth: Practiced on her model sister and her model friends.
	The agency started sending more models to get her facials which led to
Launch	actresses and stylists contacting her too (Taylor, 2013)
	Word-of-mouth: Practiced on her model sister and her model friends.
	The agency started sending more models to get her facials which led
	to actresses and stylists contacting her too (Taylor, 2013)
Sales channels /	Sna chain and a product range that is cold at recollers and
Distribution	Spa chain and a product range that is sold at resellers and
channels	online. (Blissworld.com, n.d.)
	Word-of-mouth: Practiced on her model sister and her model friends. The agency started sending more models to get her facials which led
Marketing/PR	to actresses and stylists contacting her too (Taylor, 2013)
	Because of the celebrities, Bliss has become a sought-after Spa with
	a half year-long waitinglist. (NYMag.com, n.d.)
	Through the early model clientele, Bliss could develop a contact
	network with people in the women's magazine business and gets a
	lot of publicity in the magazines (NYMag.com, n.d.)
Control	Fill in the price gap between your product and possible
activities	copies.(Evans, 2012)
	Trademarks and service marks

Company	Bread & Boxers
	Henrik Lindahl: architect, for example for H&M's
	stores
Founder's background	Alexander Palmgren: Unknown
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Grab-&-go for everyday basics
	They wanted good basics (everyday staples)
	to be more accessible
	One early morning in 2009 two Swedish
	friends woke up in a hotel room on the other
	side of the Atlantic while their baggage with
	all their everyday favorites was, well, not
	there. Although that day did not start out very
	well, by nightfall Bread & Boxers was
	founded.
Concept Development	(Breadandboxersusa.com, n.d.)
	they hate logos
	(Johansson, 2013)
	"Henrik Lundqvist Favorites" (Henrik Lundqvist
	was a friend of the founders and is now also a
	partner)
	(Nordiska Kompaniet, 2014)
Creative collaborations	(Weiss, 2015)
	Seasonal Capsule Collections with Lundqvist
	(Breadandboxersusa.com, n.d.)
	Henrik Lundqvist as the spokesperson fro the
	brand (Prnewswire.com, 2014)
	(FillewSwile.com, 2014)
	Throught-through design, made to be extra
	comfortable with printed washing-instructions
	instead of itchy tags and made to have its
	best fit AFTER washing by making the t-
	shirts longer so that they can shrink.
Product development	(Breadandboxers.se, n.d.; Johansson, 2013)
	Throught-through design, made to be extra
	comfortable with printed washing-instructions
	instead of itchy tags and made to have its best fit
	AFTER washing by making the t-shirts longer so
	that they can shrink.
	(Breadandboxers.se, n.d.: Johansson, 2013)

	Some garments come in bread bags since
	fresh baked bread in the morning gives a
	great feeling
	(Johansson, 2013)
	Other packaging is made to resemble
	everyday grocery staples.
	(Breadandboxersusa.com, n.d.)
	In 2014: Launch in America with getting Lundqvist
	on board
"Strategies"	(Johansson, 2013; Prnewswire.com, 2014)
	Started as an extension of the mini bar, a life
	saver for light travelers, or if you will, room
	service at its best. We successfully launch of
	a line of underwear favorites, including
	boxers, panties and socks, at first only accessible in hotel rooms.
Louroh	
Launch	(Breadandboxersusa.com, n.d.) Hotel mini-bars, airports, stores
Sales channels / Distribution channels	(Johansson, 2013)
	soon emails from hotel guests started to drop
	in with inquires on where to buy their new
	favorite underwear a bit closer to home.
	Since 2011, an extended collection of
	everyday basics can be found in selected
	stores throughout Europe, the US and Asia
	(Breadandboxersusa.com, n.d.)
	In USA: United Legwear Co. (ULC) have the
	exclusive right to manufacture, sell and
	distribute the brand
	(Prnewswire.com, 2014)
	also creates collections and They've also
	spread the word of their brand during
	Nightingale Under Days where a marketing
	agency told the stories behind various
	different brands and connected it with press,
Marketing/PP	influencers, retailers etc. (Nightingale, n.d.)
Marketing/PR	Started selling the Lundqvist Favorites collection
	exclusively to NK in Stockholm and Gothenburg
	(Nordiska Kompaniet, 2014)
Control activities	Trademarks
	maaamama

Company	Bumble & Bumble
Founder's background	Hair-dresser & salon owner
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
	Hair dresser's invisible oil
	(Bumble and bumble., n.d.)
	Surf Infusion
Irrelevant attribute	(Bumble and bumble., n.d.)
	Every aspect of the organization is made in-house
Concept Development	(Bumbleandbumble.com, n.d.)
· · ·	A need to do things differently to other salons
	(Into The Gloss, 2016)
	A brand who introduced styling products for hair-dressers to use in
	editiorial work
	(Boots.com, n.d.)
	Fashion Week: BB stylists using BB products for various designer
	shows
Creative collaborations	(Bumbleandbumble.com, n.d.)
	Every aspect of the organization is made in-house
Product development	(Bumbleandbumble.com, n.d.)
	A high-end salon with a more relaxed atmosphere and lower prices
"Strategies"	(Into The Gloss, 2016)
	Focus on styling products instead of shampoo and conditioner
	(Into The Gloss, 2016)
	With a good contact network with people doing editorials for the
	magazine, the salon saw an opportunity to create a range of
	products for them to use
Launch	(Into The Gloss, 2016)
	BB salons and selected salons, apothecaries, stores and
Sales channels / Distribution	online
channels	(Bumbleandbumble.com, n.d.; Elcompanies.com, n.d.)
	Explicitly avoid super markets and drugstore chains and
	recommend their clients to stay away from BB products sold
	at such places since they can be counterfeited or old.
	(Bumbleandbumble.com, n.d.)
	The salon got popular after a review in Vogue, which led to
	more publicity
Marketing/PR	(Into The Gloss, 2016)
	With a good contact network with people doing editorials for the
	magazine, the salon saw an opportunity to create a range of
	products for them to use
	(Into The Gloss, 2016)

Similar products/Disputes	Counterfeited products (Amazon.com, 2010)
	"Gray market" for salon care products as they're not always
	completely plagiarized but can also be dilluted original
	products or original products that are sold after they've
	expired. (Xovain.com, 2014)
	A plea to their customers on their website to only buy from
	retailers found through the website and a message not to buy
	the products at super drug store chains or supermarket chains
Control activities	(Bumbleandbumble.com, n.d.)
	Trademarks

Company	Cheap Monday
	Örjan Andersson worked for ten years at JC, then he started Weekend - a second hand-store with some new brands too. Started it together with a colleague and hadonly open during weekends. It was successful so they started Weekday.
Founder's background	(SvD.se, 2008)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	"revolution against expensive jeans" (Berthling, 2006)
	 It was trendy to wear expensive jeans and brands increased their prices. A reaction against it was needed. After the launch of Cheap Monday, a few new brands have entered the market, offering cheap jeans too.
Concept Development	(Almegård, 2009)
	"- There has always been companies selling cheap jeans but they tried to package them in an expensive way. We are straight-forward and call ourselves Cheap Monday." (Julander, 2006)
Product development	The skinny silhouette has become an iconic look for Cheap Monday but there are other models as well. (Almegård, 2009)
	They bought as few pairs as they were allowed and could afford (800 pairs). They sold out quickly and the profit was reinvested into 5000 new pairs. The delivery was delayed so in the meantime people could be written on a waiting list. When the jeans arrived people had to stand in line for the changing booth for hours.
Launch	(SvD.se, 2008)
Sales channels / Distribution channels	Initially just the founders' own store Weekend (later turned into Weekday) (SvD.se, 2008)
	They wanted to establish Weekday in stores that otherwise were selling more expensive clothes. It seems to have worked. (Almegård, 2009)

	online tool allowing retailers to view and order
	express collections (smaller collections between the
	main collections)
	(Schori, 2011)
	started small and grew from that. From only selling
	from their own store, Cheap Monday jeans are now
	sold worldwide.
	(SvD.se, 2008)
	Initially building their reputation through PR and
	parties and later through their shows at Stockholm
	Fashion Week, Cheap Monday had deliberately
	avoided marketing the brand in a traditional way.
Marketing/PR	(Moorethought.co.uk, 2015)
	en year anniversary was celebrated with a 10 min
	pop-up store handing out jeans for free in exchange
	forbeing mentioned in social media.
	(Bane, 2014)
	Debated in media since the logo initially had a cross
	in the forehead claimed to be "anti cristian". The
	founders did not take it too seriously.
	(Berthling, 2006)
	(2010, 11, 19, 2000)
	They later changed the logo
	They've chosen other ways of marketing than the
	traditional ones since they seem a bit too "glossy"
	for cheap monday.
	(Bliznac, 2012)
	"Cheap Monday Sneak Peek Shop" - pop up
	webshop selling pieces from the collection a few
	days before the actual fashion show. Secret codes
	to enter are given to fans and selected customers.
	This is the exact opposite of the tradition in fashion
	which is very careful not to disclose anything before
	the show.
	(Hanspers, 2012)
	(

Control activities	(Schori, 2011) Trademarks
	in Sweden.
	entering new markets abroad. PR is made in-house
	Cheap Monday hires local PR agencies when
	Mostly PR, lending samples to magazines and events in the stores. (Schori, 2011) Under the theme of "Bondage Construction," the brand invaded a total of thirteen Weekday and Cheap Monday stores in Paris, Stockholm and many places in between. They covered their boutiques in plastic film and vinyl, for an S&M- meets-science-camp feeling, and threw a party in each store to show off a special preview of their limited edition jeans customized with straps, hooks and bleach. "The price is the same as always, but every pair is customized by hand in our office." (Pfeiffer, 2010)

Company	Chobani
Founder's background	cheese company owner (Bhasin, 2012)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	A "banner" right below the lid (Chobani, n.d.)
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Portion-sized naturally-flavored NON-GMO greek
	yoghurt sold " to the masses" in the US (Chobani,
Concept Development	n.d.) (Prasso, 2011)
Product development	New flavors (Chobani, n.d.)
	Additional yoghurt brand dedicated to target
	children (Bhasin, 2012)
	Chobani hasn't aimed to become a high-end brand
	but instead one of the other yoghurt brands, put on
	the shelves next to the other yoghurt brands in
	regular stores Close relationship to the customers
	through social media and from feedback sent on
"Strategies"	Chobani's website (Prasso, 2011)
	Direct contact with the customers through social
	media and from feedback sent via Chobani's
	website (Prasso, 2011)
	The founder shares with his coworkers (Josephs,
	2016)
	Started selling to individual stores and after a while
Launch	got into the larger chains (Bhasin, 2012)
	When trying to get the product into individual stores,
	they always brought samples for the people they
	were meeting with. (Needleman, 2012)
	LArge supermarkets and smaller stores in the
channels	US (Bhasin, 2012)
	Reached out to bloggers and used social media
	platforms like Facebook and Twitter, aimin to have
	direct contact with the customers (Bhasin,
Marketing/PR	2012) (Prasso, 2011)
	Truck with samples, attending festivals etc. (Bhasin,
	2012)
	Nowadays also TV commercial is used (Phasin, 2012)
Control activities	Nowadays also TV commecial is used (Bhasin, 2012)
Control activities	Trademarks including trade dress
	Design Patent for a container overwrap

Company	Daniel Wellington
Founder's background	smalslips.se, other watch brand
	completely round dial without digits, the metal closing
Design attributes other than	mechanism with engraved logo
logotypes and labels	(Danielwellington.com, n.d.)
	Classy Oxford
Irrelevant attribute	(Danielwellington.com, n.d.)
	(Fictitious?) character is the inspiration of the brand.
	Storytelling about the man behind the watch.
Concept Development	(Danielwellington.com, n.d.)
	Tysander picked a good moment to build a watch brand.
	After dipping during the financial crisis, the industry has
	grown every year since.
	(Pulvirent, 2015)
	Changeable straps in order to change the appearance of
	the watch to a lower price
	(Danielwellington.com, n.d.)
	They seeded out thousands of watches to numerous
	bloggers in different sectors and offered their fans a
	unique/personalised 15%-20% discount code for their fans
	to buy the watches directly from DW's official site (of
	course, they do free shipping to lower the barrier).
Launch	(iagegracefully, 2015)
	At first, Tysander began selling the watch online in
Sales channels / Distribution	Sweden and through local storefronts.
channels	(Pulvirent, 2015)
	A year later he came to New York to find American
	partners, and now the watches are carried in major
	department stores as well as at niche fashion
	boutiques.
	(Pulvirent, 2015)
	Soon after, the DW team began attending
	Baselworld, the industry's largest trade show, held
	each spring in Switzerland.
	(Pulvirent, 2015)
	Unlike other brands that aim to stay exclusive by
	not selling to any old shop, DW will distribute to
	most retailers that want its product.
	(Pulvirent, 2015)
	wants to expand into places such as Africa that are
	underserved by the watch market.
	(Pulvirent, 2015)

	I ne company also has a habit of giving its product
	away for free, specifically to social-media stars and
	prominent personalities. Tysander refuses to pay
	for traditional advertising, instead working with
	thousands of bloggers, celebrities, and other
	"influencers" worldwide.
Marketing/PR	(Pulvirent, 2015)
Control activities	trademarks and service marks

Company	Fiji Water
	David Gilmour, a businessman with interests in hotels,
Founder's background	real estate and gold mining
	(Jakarta Globe, n.d.)
Design attributes other than	the square shape of the bottle
logotypes and labels	(Store.fijiwater.com, n.d.)
Irrelevant attribute	Fiji water
	(FIJI Water, n.d.)
	Fiji is very far from most markets and customers. This physical inaccessibility has provided Fiji Water to create the story of this water being extracted from a virgin ecosystem far from acid rain, herbicides, pesticides and other pellutents and filtered peturely for years through
Concept Development	other pollutants and filtered naturally for years through layers of silica, basalt and sandstone. This journey from the atmosphere to bottling – something unique for consumers to sit up and take notice of – is communicated clearly through packaging and exquisitely on the company's website. (Martin Roll, 2014)
	Complementing the story of the water itself, the brand of Fiji itself has long been known as an unexploited land full of tropical forest surrounded by coral reefs, unpolluted by the modern world's necessary evils and was protected by nature. These factors created a very strong myth about the brand amongst the customers who, in turn, perpetuate the mythology that built the brand. (Martin Roll, 2014)
	Fiji Water created their brand by riding the coattails of brand equity already established by the Fiji name (Dean, 2010)
	The Fiji Water consumer is really buying—in addition to pure clean water—a healthy lifestyle enveloped by the idea of tranquility and beauty associated with a pristine tropical rainforest. Nature provides credibility to Fiji Natural Artesian Water. (Dean, 2010)
Product development	By coming out with an award-winning slippery silver bottle design, Fiji water has been able to replace Evian in many of the top-end restaurants. (Martin Roll, 2014)

	A strong connection with film stars and other artists has
	even inspired new features such as a straw-cap, which
	•
	was a minor, but meaningful innovation that came from
	observing how celebrities would modify their bottles so
	that they could sip without messing up their makeup
	(Martin Roll, 2014)
	OBS! Patenterat! (Fiji Water Company, 2015)
	The square bottle is easily recognized and positively
	associated with the product—Fiji Natural Artesian Water.
	The full experience associated with consuming water
	from an artesian aquifer at the very edge of a rainforest
	starts with a sophisticated label. Instead of a simple tag,
	Fiji Water draws the consumer into an environment of
	palm leaves and Hibiscus blooms. The multi-dimensional
	labeling technique entices the consumer to purchase
	and consume the contents.
	(Dean, 2010) subscriptions
	(Store.fijiwater.com, n.d.)
	Fiji Water's pricing strategies offered distributors as well
	as retailers the opportunity to make profits in a category
"Strategies"	that they had become used to not making any money in
	when selling a commodity product.
	(Martin Roll, 2014)
	Fiji Water launched slowly and selectively in the US
	through exclusive outlets in Los Angeles and Palm
	Springs.
	(Ritson, 2008)
Launch	The first prong of Fiji Water's communication strategy
	was building personal relationships with the chefs of
	leading restaurants, resorts and spas to promote the buy-
	in of the brand. Gilmour used his contacts in the hotel
	industry to pitch his product to the top-end hotels, resorts
	and restaurants.
	(Martin Roll, 2014)
	because Fiji Water's bottles were often off the shelves
	due to their early inability to match huge initial demand,
	this added to the brand's feel of exclusivity
	(Martin Roll, 2014)
	Fiji Water first appeared in New York for example on the
	Fiji Water first appeared in New York, for example, on the menu at lean-Georges, an elite restaurant in Manhattan
	menu at Jean-Georges, an elite restaurant in Manhattan.
	menu at Jean-Georges, an elite restaurant in Manhattan. It was priced \$10 a litre and presented to diners in a solid
	menu at Jean-Georges, an elite restaurant in Manhattan.

Sales channels / Distribution channels	Through this controlled distribution strategy in line with its positioning of a high-end product, Fiji Water has ensured that it is available at the best hotels, resorts and spas used by the leading stars and managed to get chef's recommendations. (Martin Roll, 2014)
Marketing/PR	Fiji Water did not resort to the usual mass media advertising for its product launch. To this day, Fiji does very little traditional advertising and continues to emphasise a two-pronged strategy – building strategic relationships and careful product placement. (Martin Roll, 2014)
	The second prong of communication was placing the product in leading Hollywood movies and other high- profile events to associate the brand with an elite community, attract attention and to create buzz. Fiji Water has resorted to product placement as a major channel of promotion and brand building. By hiring Creative Entertainment Services, a Hollywood marketing consulting firm, Fiji has been able to fit in Fiji Water bottles in scripts of many major Hollywood movies. These exposures to the brand, when combined with the exciting mythical story, have made the brand noticeable. (Martin Roll, 2014)
	Fiji Water has also sponsored many local events such as golf tournaments, sailing regattas, and musical events. Fiji Water is regularly front and centre as official water sponsors and exclusive partners of events such as the Toronto International Film Festival, New York Fashion Week and Screen Actors Guild Awards. (Martin Roll, 2014)
	With a brand community of loyal, highly visible customers, Fiji water bottles appear in magazines constantly and appear to be one of chosen water brands of many stars without having to sponsor them directly. (Martin Roll, 2014)
	Launched in 2007, the Fiji Water Foundation is a charitable trust funded and supported by the owners, employees and corporate affiliates of Fiji Water. The Fiji Water Foundation is one of the largest philanthropic organizations in Fiji and has focused its efforts and investments on three priority areas of development: rent vatten, education & health care (Martin Roll, 2014)

	Since 2009, Fiji Water has been a proud member of 1%
	for the Planet, a growing movement of more than 1,000
	companies that donate 1% of their sales to a global
	network of organizations committed to the preservation
	and restoration of the natural environment.
	(Martin Roll, 2014)
	Gave out bottles to 25000 people in three different areas
	but focus was not on just handing them out but to inform
	about the STORY behing the water.
	(Sorrells, 2012)
Control activities	Trademark including trade dress and wordmark
	Utility patent for straw cap
	Fiji has enforced its trademark rights (and won) several
Control-related issues	times, suing competitor with either similar names or
	similar packaging. (FoodBev, 2008; Fuchs, 2010)

Company	Gasp
	body building, imported clothing brands such
	as Better Bodies, then licensed more and
	more until eventually taking over the entire
	brand.
Founder's background	(BODY, 2012)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	They wanted to do something for their
	core customers, not forgetting where they
	came from (things had gotten a bit too
	pastel blue with Better Bodies brand) (
Concept Development	BODY 2012)
	GASP products are not made for everybody
	at the gym – It's only for the most dedicated
	athletes!
	(Gasp.nu, n.d.)
	USA is a key factor in the work with GASP
	since that's where most trends come from
	within fitness. They wanted to export TO
	the states instead of importing from it. If
	succeeding in America, the success will
	spread.So even if focusing on USA, you
	will also focus on Europe.
Product development	(BODY, 2012)
	Product development, design, marketing and
	distribution is done in-house
	(Atrox.se, n.d.)
	Production in different countries but
	Swedish deisgn
	(Body, 2012) If being in the sports retail stores you easily
	become a poor version of Nike since the
	stores require that you should offer certain
	products and have certain campaigns. so
	they decided to look outside Sweden and
	instead focusing on exporting to other
"Stratagias"	counties.
"Strategies"	(Body, 2012) USA is a key factor in the work with GASP
	since that's where most trends come from
	within fitness. They wanted to export TO
	the states instead of importing from it. If
	succeeding in America, the success will
	spread.So even if focusing on USA, you
	will also focus on Europe.
	(BODY, 2012)

	GASP was something of an Immediate
	success and proved to be more efficient than
	Better Bodies.
Launch	(Body, 2012)
	At first, it was, in total, a bit of a backlash but you have to be brave if you want to be more nische oriented. (Body, 2012)
Sales channels / Distribution channels	dedicated fitness stores and online stores
	The business is run by the most prominent
	fitness profiles in USA
Marketing/PR	(Atrox.se, n.d.)
	Attending fairs and events
	(Gasp.nu, n.d.)
	cometition sponsorship
	(Gasp.nu, n.d.)
	GASP sponsors ambassadors
	(Gasp.nu, n.d.)
Control activities	trademarks

Company	Happy Plugs
	Happy company with happy visions: simplicity
	right from the start, a great portion of
	happiness and minimalistic and clean design
Core values	(Happy Plugs, n.d.)
	Web design and founded lifestyle community Glife.
	He's also worked with online video business
	Headweb
Founder's background	(Zackrisson, 2015)
	He has founded 5 companies icluding an online
	charity website and social media networks before
	Facebook. He has never sold a business.
	(Snickars, 2014)
	headphones packaged as a music note
	(Happy Plugs, n.d.)
	"standardized" single-colored headphones and tech
Design attributes other than	accessories
logotypes and labels	(Happy Plugs, n.d.)
Irrelevant attribute	-
	He already had a concept in mind: "What colour are
	you today?" (Za shrisson, 2015)
Concept Development	(Zackrisson, 2015)
	choosing headphones as the concept carrier was
	decided later when his girlfriend wondered why
	there were only black and white Apple headphones.
	(Zackrisson, 2015)
	special packaging, where the headphones look like
	a music note
Product development	(Happy Plugs, n.d.)
·	the brand has been awarded both for its packaging
	and its products (Guldknappen, in the accessory
	category)
	(Happy Plugs, n.d.)
	toured with a pair of painted apple headphones and
	tried to sell before having a production
Launch	(Zackrisson, 2015)
Sales channels / Distribution	Online, own store in Mall of Scandinavia
channels	

Marketing/PR	Primarily marketing through PR since they more easily reach their target group that way. Close collaborations with PR agencies who do most of the PR-related work for them. The most important thing is to give a coherent image no matter which channel or which touchpoints (Snickars, 2014)
	sometimes collaborations with influencers and
	bloggers, who often-times are the one contacting
	Happy pllugs instead of the other way around.
	(Snickars, 2014)
	They try to be present on most social media
	platforms. Primarily Facebook, Instagram and Twitter.
	They also try to be on platforms such as Wanelo och
	Fancy. They have ambassadors in all media channels
	which helps spreading the brand to all platforms.
	(Snickars, 2014)
Control activities	design patents for their packaging
	Trademarks including trade dress protection
	They browse social media in order to stay up to
	date with their competitors and tendencies in the
	world (Snickars, 2014)
	They acknowledge that there are others producting
	very similar headphones but chose to see certain
	actors in segments other than the smartphone
	accessory segment as more relevant competitors,
	since they attract the same audience. (Snickars,
Competing/Similar products	2014)

Company	Happy Socks
	advertising business for 10 years, own event
	agency, realestate in Bali, Graphic design
Founder's background	freelancer
Design attributes other than	Single-colored toe and heel
logotypes and labels	(Happysocks.com, n.d.)
Irrelevant attribute	-
	the name came early: on a long Sunday
	afternoon in 2008 that Viktor said he had an
	idea to create colourful socks and call it
Concept Development	Happy Socks.
	they let creative people do what they want
	instead ofdescribing what THEY want. They
	don't want any middle hands and instead want
	to be direct and stright forward
Creative collaborations	(Colin.se, 2013)
	"Actually, it goes both ways. Either they come
	to us or we go to them. It's usually through
	someone who knows the other party mutually.
	For example, if somebody knows Terry
	Richardson, or someone has a contact with
	adidas. It's something that's developed
	through personal contacts. We then start
	discussing it and if we figure it's a good story,
	that we can create something to talk about
	and create a good product, and they're
	interested in doing it, then we move forward
	with it."
	"It has to be something that's not so expected
	either. Something that's a little bit different. It's
	something that's very natural when we do it,
	but it's not the first thing you would think
	about."

Product development	"I start doodling things and then it goes into the computer — patterns and patterns — and then I put them into the CAD drawings to see what fits, and then I show it to the sales team and production team and they go killing my darlings. Just joking. But seriously, we don't want to be so niche, we want to be broad, so we want to make the collection in the end that will work for as many as possible. We don't follow that much and that's been our thing from the beginning. We had nobody to follow in the sock world and today we want to continue doing what we like the most. We believe that if we like the socks, then the people around us will like the socks."
Product development	(Poh, 2012)
"Stratogias"	If only 0.1 per mille would buy, they would be able to earn enough to live off their idea. But they realized that they had to go global in order to succeed.
"Strategies"	(Ekman, 2012) Importantly they set up the company as a
	global brand, with a global attitude, so that from inception every decision was made with that focus. An example of this is that they concentrate their energy on the creative and the package (they only have 20 staff), and then rely wholly on distributors to get their product out there - they even use a distributor in their native Sweden. While leaving the distribution to the distributors - they do set high standards and give a lot of time ensuring these relationships are right. (Thegoodstube.com, 2012) They had a gallery show during fashion week
Launch	where they put the socks on the wall as if they were paintings. They invited the press and when the exhibition was over they sold all the socks to their friends since they needed money but also wanted to spread the socks and get people o start using them. (Ekman, 2012)
	Simoultaneously, they also launched their website. Happy Socks' marketing activities have mainly been done online. (Ekman, 2012)

	1
	Thanks to their website, they were able to attend fashion trade shows - no other company there were selling socks. They've later been told by other sock companies that thei success is due to the fact that they according to the custom did everything wrong. (Ekman, 2012) The idea from start was to have an webshop but in the beginning they had to focus more on establishing their brand. That meant that they initially, during the first years, worked hard on finding retailers. after that, the webshop has been developed more and more.
	(Kiepels, 2014)
	sell through retailer. The idea was to sell the socks in prestigeous boutiques in order to position Happy Sock's brand. When that was done they could get an external distributor to
Sales channels / Distribution	continue their work.
channels	(Ekman, 2012)
	own webshop
	(Ekman, 2012)
	Mostly PR. It's important to build stories around the brand that are fun for people to
	share.
Marketing/PR	(Winberg, 2014)
O and the Law (1, 1)(1	
Control activities	trademarks
Control activities	trademarks Happy Socks were the first to enter - and
Control activities	
	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they
	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012)
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012) They can claim their right towards companies
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012) They can claim their right towards companies using the trademark Happy Socks or similar
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012) They can claim their right towards companies using the trademark Happy Socks or similar names. They claimed their right in a case
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012) They can claim their right towards companies using the trademark Happy Socks or similar names. They claimed their right in a case where a competitor used the name Socks for
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012) They can claim their right towards companies using the trademark Happy Socks or similar names. They claimed their right in a case where a competitor used the name Socks for Happy People. (Ekman, 2012)
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012) They can claim their right towards companies using the trademark Happy Socks or similar names. They claimed their right in a case where a competitor used the name Socks for Happy People. (Ekman, 2012) The problem is instead the companies
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012) They can claim their right towards companies using the trademark Happy Socks or similar names. They claimed their right in a case where a competitor used the name Socks for Happy People. (Ekman, 2012) The problem is instead the companies doingproducts with <i>similar</i> design, as Happy
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012) They can claim their right towards companies using the trademark Happy Socks or similar names. They claimed their right in a case where a competitor used the name Socks for Happy People. (Ekman, 2012) The problem is instead the companies doingproducts with <i>similar</i> design, as Happy Socks cannot get a design right on their socks
Competing/similar	Happy Socks were the first to enter - and create - the market for colorful socks and they believe the interest will increase although there are now other actors as well on the market. (Poh, 2012) They can claim their right towards companies using the trademark Happy Socks or similar names. They claimed their right in a case where a competitor used the name Socks for Happy People. (Ekman, 2012) The problem is instead the companies doingproducts with <i>similar</i> design, as Happy

Century 21 are selling very similar socks,
which Happy Socks cannot do anything about.
(Ekman, 2012)
The biggest challenge is trademark and
copyright infringement, using the names,
images and patterns. (Ekman, 2012)

Company	Herschel Supply Company
	Lyndon Cormack & Jamie Cormack, sales
	representatives for Vans & K2 Sports
Founder's background	(Gold, 2013)
Design attributes other than	straps and leather details
logotypes and labels	(Herschel Supply Co USA, n.d.)
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Bags with a nostalgic look made for
	modern living
	"A lot of accessories had gone in a
	nostalgic, retro direction but the founders
	noticed that this hadn't yet happened in the
	bags sector, which was still very sports
	centric.
Concept Development	(Gold, 2013)
	A lot of accessories had gone in a nostalgic,
	retro direction but the founders noticed that
	this hadn't yet happened in the bags sector,
	which was still very sports centric.
	(Gold, 2013)
	Herschel Supply and Apple have a
	collaboration where Herschel sells dedicated
	Apple-compatible produts.
Creative collaborations	(Gold, 2013)
	Stüssy, using Stüssy patterns for the Herschel
	backpacks
	(Gold, 2013)
	Shoes made with New Balance, as well as a
	bag with dedicated shoe space
	(Gold, 2013)
	A wide range of backpacks, pouches, a travel
	range etc.
Product development	(Herschel Supply Co USA, n.d.)
	The strategy is to pin-point the market instead
	of reaching out to the masses and letting that
	target market feel like they've discovered the
	brand themselves instead of getting it thrown in their face.
"Stratogios"	(Gold, 2013)
"Strategies"	Inspired by brands they had grown up with like
	Stussy and New Balance
	(Gold, 2013)
L	

	The market is not only hipsters but also moms and their children during the "back- to-school" season (Gold, 2013)
	Using agencies to advertize in other countries (Gold, 2013)
Launch	Trade shows all over the world, not just attending but spending a lot of time making sure the products look their very best (Gold, 2013)
Sales channels / Distribution channels	Sold in 5000+ stores, many being quite distinct in their target market (such as Colette and Urban Outfitters), department stores, online (Gold, 2013)
Marketing/PR	The strategy is to pin-point the market instead of reaching out to the masses (although they also appear on websites with broader audiences). (Gold, 2013)
	Street wear trade shows called Agenda and advertizing in that trade show's magazine The strategy is to pin-point the market instead of reaching out to the masses. (Gold, 2013)
	Weekly appearances at websites with a specific audience (the brand's target market) (Gold, 2013)
	Strong presence in social media, including a twitter account for customer service (Gold, 2013)
Control activities Control-related issues	trademarks They've sued competitors for trade mark infringement and trade mark passing off. (Ippractice.ca, 2015)
	Herschel has also been sued for trademark infringement (Justia Dockets & Filings, 2015)

Company	Innocent Drinks
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	A healthy habit helping people to something
	good for themselves
Concept Development	(Rubin, 2010)
	Smoothies and juices made of natural
	ingredients only, with a friendly and informal
	tone
	(McCahill, 2013; innocent, n.d.)
	From smoothies to juices, coconut water and
	other tasty healthy drinks, continuing to healthy
	meals
Product development	(innocent, n.d.; Rubin, 2010)
	Innocent have an external manufacturer to
	produce their juices and smoothies
"Strategies"	(Rubin, 2010)
	10% of the profit is put into Innocent's own
	charity foundation
	(O'Reilly, 2014)
	Sold amosthics during a fastival that Innegant's
	Sold smoothies during a festival that Innocent's target group went to and let them decide
	whether or not they should start a company
Launch	(Rubin, 2010)
	Gave out bottles for free to local stores and
	asked them to call and order more if they sold
	out. This got them their first customers which
	helped them land wholesale customers since
	they could show that they already had a
	customer base
	(Rubin, 2010)
	Supermarkets, local stores first in UK,
Sales channels / Distribution	continuing with the rest of Europe
channels	(Rubin, 2010)
	Didn't pay for advertising the first 5 years.
	Instead used the empty space on the bottles to
	write "silly" messages, establishing Innocent's
	tone
Marketing/PR	(Rubin, 2010)

	Aimed to get a lot of PR coverage - not always
	in the most correct manner: Innocent had a
	metting with a journalist and did the most out of
	their security passes as they left samples to all
	the journalists in the building instead of only
	the one they were meeting with.
	(Rubin, 2010)
	Innocent had a van, from which they were
	giving out free samples and selling food at
	parks, markets and festivals
	(O'Reilly, 2014)
	Innocent have had an own festival
	(innocent, 2009)
	They invite customers co visit their office, try
	new flavors and give feedback
	(O'Reilly, 2014)
	Big Knit camaign: Customers are encouraged
	to knit hats to the Innocent bottles - for each
	hat, Innocent donates to charity
	(O'Reilly, 2014)
	Innocent Family - fans getting the Innocent
	weekly newsletter
	(Woods, 2006)
Control activities	Trademarks
	Innocent had a dispute with the logo creators
	about the copyright of the logo (which they
Control-related issues	won) (Steele, 2015)
	Innocent has also claimed its trademark
	rights, getting innocent vitamins to
	change its name.(O'Reilly, 2011)
I	

Company	Lakrids by Johan Bülow
Founder's background	Johan Bülow
Design attributes other than	round shape on candy (Lakrids by Johan
logotypes and labels	Bülow, n.d.)
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Liquorice turned into a gourmet
Concept Development	experience (Liquorice by Johan Bülow, n.d.)
	New flavors, special editions and seasonal
	products such as easter liquorice (Lakrids by
Product development	Johan Bülow, 2016)
	Liquorice for food (Lakrids by Johan Bülow,
	2016)
	The liquorice is made in a round, often
	colorful shape and comes in jars with stylish
	labels (Lakrids by Johan Bülow, n.d.)
	Sold at selected retailers where design and
	quality is prioritized over sector (Liquorice by
"Strategies"	Johan Bülow, n.d.)
	Launched during the tourist
Launch	season (Liquorice by Johan Bülow, n.d.)
Sales channels / Distribution	Online, own stores, retailers (Liquorice by
channels	Johan Bülow, n.d.)
	The retailers are known for thei design
	and quality and contain hotels, wine
	shops, designer boutiques and high-end
	department stores (Liquorice by Johan
	Bülow, n.d.)
	The own shops are placed at loctions where
	tourists are: Kastrup airport, Copenhagen
	Tivoli etc. at selected retailers where design
	and quality is prioritized over
	sector (Liquorice by Johan Bülow, n.d.)
	#firstfixforfree: Free sample on all
	products before buying (Husted Sylvest,
Marketing/PR	2015, 2016)
Control activities	trademarks

Company	Lärabar
	Lara Merriken: Degree in psycology, buyer for
	the nutrition department at Whole Foods
Founder's background	Market (Merriken, 2012)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	_
Irrelevant attribute	names refering to cookies (Larabar.com, n.d.)
	Energy bars made from very few but wholesome
	natural ingredients such as nuts and dates,
	sprung from the founders own need for a
	wholesome snack that's more convenient than
Concept Development	trail mix (Larabar.com, n.d.; Merriken, 2012)
· · ·	An idea to produce indulgent food that would
	benefit the health (as opposed producing
	unhealthy indulgent food and trying to "healthify"
	it) (Merriken, 2012)
Product development	New sub-brands & new flavors (Larabar.com, n.d.)
	Foods suitable for special diets such as gluten-
	free and dairy-free diets (Larabar.com, n.d.)
	An idea to produce indulgent food that would
	benefit health (as opposed to making unhealthy
	induögent food and then trying to "healtify"
"Strategies"	it) (Merriken, 2012)
	Lauched in Colorado Whole Foods Markets (after
	having gotten an OK to do so when the product was
	ready in an early stage of the product development from a regional buyer at Whole Foods during her work
Launch	shift) (Merriken, 2012)
	Made the first batch by
	hand (Ladieswholaunch.com, 2007)
	Did the sales in the stores in the beginning and talked
	to the customers (Mednik, 2011)
	Orgnic supermarkets like Trader Joe's and Whole
Sales channels / Distribution	Foods Market, supermarkets, specialty shops and
channels	online (Ladieswholaunch.com, 2007)
	Handed out samples and talked to customers in the
Marketing/PR	store (Navratil, 2007)
	Ä is used in LÄRABAR in order to guide how it's
	pronounec and to make it more
	interesting (Ladieswholaunch.com, 2007)
	Brand Ambassadors for professionals within medical, nutrition or fitness field (Larabar.ca, n.d.)
	Blogger collaborations (Raudonis, 2010; Notey,
	n.d.)
Control activities	trademarks
	แล้นธิกาส์เหง

Company	Method Products
	childhood friends, branding, strategy, climatology
Founder's background	(Adler, 2011)
Design attributes other than	untraditional and colorful bottles
logotypes and labels	(method, n.d.)
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Home cleaning supplies with great packaging
	design, (for the industry) new scents, natural
	ingredients and a green, cruelty-free cradle-to-
	cradle mindset
	(Inc.com, n.d.;
Concept Development	method, n.d.)
	They saw an increase in environmental concern
	when it came to eating habits and health but this
	hadn't yet reached any cleaning supplies
	(Adler, 2011)
	Hired sought-after designer Karim Rashid to
	design the products
Creative collaborations	(Inc.com, n.d.)
	Disney for making bottles shaped like Disney
	characters
	(Adler, 2011; Sjepstein.com, n.d.)
	Cleaning supplies for dish, laundry, home cleaning,
	hands, body, air fresheners
Product development	(method, n.d.)
	They aimed to disrupt the cleaning supplies
	industry
"Strategies"	-
Strategies	(Inc.com, n.d.) Fast innovation - making advantage of being a small
	player in comparison to FMCG companies
	(Inc.com, n.d.)
	Outsourced production to 50 other manufacturers
	(Inc.com, n.d.)
	Free samples at parties
Launch	(Adler, 2011)
	Started with getting into independent stores
	(Adler, 2011)
	Demos in the stores
	(Adler, 2011)
	Chains such as Target, Bed Bath & Beyond, online
Sales channels / Distribution	etc
channels	(Adler, 2011)
	Started with demos in stores
Marketing/PR	(Adler, 2011)

	Certificates from organization acknowledging the
	brand's efforts in being environmental-friendly and
	animal-friendly
	(method, n.d.)
Control activities	Trademarks including trade dress protection
	utility patents and design patents related to
	packaging
	Were accused by Clorox for using a daisy in their
	marketing which they have registered as their
	trademark. Responded by launching a marketing
	campaign where people could vote on who owned the
	daisy (mother nature being one of the alternatives)
Control-realted issues	(Adler, 2011).

Company	Moleskine
Founder's background	literature & publishing
	"The product and the Moleskine story really go way back, toward the end of the 1800s to the beginning of the 1900s. A group of artists and literati, mostly based in Paris, started using this notebooks, But the product then disappeared toward the second half of the 1900s, around 1980." Moleskine notebooks, in their current iteration, are made by a company formed in 1997.
Design attributes other than	(Ryssdal, 2013)
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	They began producing its notebooks in 1997,
	but the company cultivated the perception that
	its product had been around forever. The
	booklet inside each Moleskine described the
	"history of a legendary notebook" and the story
	of the Paris booksellers and the famous artists.
Concept Development	(Raphel, 2014)
· · ·	When Moleskine went public in Italy, It
	positioned itself not as a stationery brand but
	as a luxury-goods company. Vissa ifrågasätter
	dock om deras brand verkligen sträcker sig så
	långt
	"Obviously, we don't just sell products—we
	don't just sell notebooks. We also sell a story."
	(Raphel, 2014)
	"Moleskine is a cultural icon. It is not a simple
	notebook, and it is not a commodity, but a free
	platform for creativity."
	Moleskine is a category leader because it speaks
	loudly with a soft voice. Its ubiquity is
	contrasted by the humble way its logo is blind
	stamped on the back of each book, saying "this
	book is all about you, not us.
	corporations can team with Moleskine to create
	custom products for their clientele
Creative collaborations	(Raphel, 2014)
	Moleskine has also collaborated with brands
	such as Lego, The Simpsons, and Star Wars to
	create limited-editions notebooks and diaries
	(Raphel, 2014)

	The company has also partnered with Evernote
	(Raphel, 2014)
	Har fått bredda antalet produkter
Product development	(Raphel, 2014)
	Moleskine has begun to market itself as being at
	the forefront of the "analog-digital continuum."
	(Raphel, 2014)
	"We have a strong network of partners, and
	each has its own network of retailers. Our
	business model is to cultivate a big network,
	while keeping the company small."
"Strategies"	(Raphel, 2014)
	Their mission is built on four pillars: imagination,
	travel, memory, and personal identity.(Carbone,
	2011)
	The Syntegra purchase also let Moleskine
	expand its range. You used to have to hunt the
	notebooks down in indie bookstores and
	specialty stationery shops. Now, Moleskine has
	become ubiquitous. Moleskines are sold in
Sales channels / Distribution	ninety-two countries.
channels	(Raphel, 2014)
	About 15 percent of Moleskines sell online, from
	Amazon to the company's own e-commerce store, in
	the last couple of years, online sales have been flat.
	(Pathak, 2015) The bulk of its revenue comes from its own stores —
	there are over 30 globally — and through resellers
	like Staples and Paper Source, Barnes & noble, major
	office-supply stores & bookstores. Moleskines sell
	best in urban areas with a high hipster quotient
	(Pathak, 2015; Raphel, 2014)
	one of Moleskine's biggest revenue streams comes
	from partnerships with conferences and companies
	for giveaway notebooks at events.
	(Pathak, 2015)
	doesn't advertise traditionally or pay for product
	doesn't advertise traditionally or pay for product
	placement, but it seemingly doesn't need to. Har fått

	bee never done close is above the line marketing	
	has never done classic above-the-line marketing,	
	choosing instead to rely on earned media while	
	spending any marketing dollars on digital.	
	(Pathak, 2015)	
	there's a lot of events — ex. Moleskine stores	
	globally are exhibiting paper mannequins by a	
	German artist	
	leverages word of mouth and their special	
	Ū I	
	editions designed for institutions such as MoMA	
	and events like Tribeca Films and the Montreaux	
	Jazz Festival. "We create visibility for brands in	
	special moments close to our target and	
	provide opportunity for people to see the brand	
	in a special occasion."	
	(Carbone, 2011)	
	Moleskine is also very active on social media: On	
	Instagram alone, it has almost 35,000 followers.	
	(Pathak, 2015)	
	"sightings" Moleskine enjoys what I call "brand	
	anonymity" allowing their products to become	
	props in films and TV. Their classic black	
	notebook blends into the background yet can't	
	be missed. Their journals have appeared in films	
	such as The Devil Wears Prada, The Motorcycle	
	Diaries, and on the series, C.S.I.	
	(Pathak, 2015)	
Control activities	Trademarks	
	The main focus is on stengthening the	
	company's brand values (for example by	
	organizing exhibitions) as Moleskine believes	
	those are the hardest to replicate and what has	
	made the brand successful. (Carbone, 2011)	
	Patent for their notebook in collaboration with	
	Evernote	
	"There are a lot of counterfeited/similar	
	notebooks	
	(Instructables.com, 2010; Miscellany One,	
Control-related issues	2013)"	
Design attributes other than logotypes and labels Green and black color combination, black cans, double size Irrelevant attribute Monster Assault & The Doctor (Monsterenergy.com, n.d.) "I viewed Red Bull as being a white-collar, yuppie drink," Hall said, "I wanted to be an aggressive, blue collar drink-[like] the guy with the tattoos." (Khermouch, 2007) Relatively consequent with black and green Monster Energy chose to sponsor the most marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent you brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011) Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd	Company	Monster Energy
---	-------------------------	---
logotypes and labels double size Irrelevant attribute Monster Assault & The Doctor (Monsterenergy.com, n.d.) "I viewed Red Bull as being a white-collar, yuppie drink," Hall said. "I wanted to be an aggressive, blue collar drink-[like] the guy with the tattoos." Concept Development (Khermouch, 2007) Relatively consequent with black and green Monster Energy chose to sponsor the most marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they din't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent you brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011) Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
Irrelevant attribute (Monsterenergy.com, n.d.) "I viewed Red Bull as being a white-collar, yuppie drink," Hall said. "I wanted to be an aggressive, blue collar drink-[like] the guy with the tattoos." Concept Development (Khermouch, 2007) Relatively consequent with black and green Monster Energy chose to sponsor the most marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's tearmate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent you brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011) Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd	logotypes and labels	double size
"I viewed Red Bull as being a white-collar, yuppie drink," Hall said. "I wanted to be an aggressive, blue collar drink-[like] the guy with the tattoos." Concept Development (Khermouch, 2007) Relatively consequent with black and green Monster Energy chose to sponsor the most marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent you brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011) Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		Monster Assault & The Doctor
drink," Hall said. "I wanted to be an aggressive, blue collar drink, [like] the guy with the tattoos." Concept Development (Khermouch, 2007) Relatively consequent with black and green Monster Energy chose to sponsor the most marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercoss, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011) Product development Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd	Irrelevant attribute	(Monsterenergy.com, n.d.)
Concept Developmentcollar drink-[like] the guy with the tattoos." (Khermouch, 2007)Relatively consequent with black and greenMonster Energy chose to sponsor the most marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent you brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		"I viewed Red Bull as being a white-collar, yuppie
Concept Development (Khermouch, 2007) Relatively consequent with black and green Monster Energy chose to sponsor the most marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent you brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011) Product development Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		drink," Hall said. "I wanted to be an aggressive, blue-
Relatively consequent with black and greenMonster Energy chose to sponsor the most marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent you brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		collar drink-[like] the guy with the tattoos."
Monster Energy chose to sponsor the most marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd	Concept Development	(Khermouch, 2007)
marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, San Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		Relatively consequent with black and green
Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent you brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		Monster Energy chose to sponsor the most
Hill. Love him or hate him Sam Hill has a great deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make: them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent you brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		marketable athlete in mountain bike racing, Sam
deal of influence on the sport, you just need to see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		-
see all the people at the races and local trails who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
who emulate the young Australian to see what mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that make them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
mean. Monster knew what they were doing and they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercoss, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
they didn't stop there. Sponsoring Sam Hill's teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influenti and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		teammate Brendan Fairclough, another influential
goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		and 'cool' rider, Monster then set their eyes on
goes on. Monster's roster of athletes grows every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		Steve Peat, then Josh Bryceland and the list
every year, but it's their careful placement of product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all on Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whose style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		-
product rather than all out coverage that makes them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		•
them different. There is no point aligning yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
yourself with athletes that don't represent your brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Product developmentBlack can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		_
brand how you want it. It does have to be said that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011)Creative collaborationsstyle is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011)Mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Music bands (Attard, 2011)Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
that there is something vaguely similar with all Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)music bands (Attard, 2011)Product development		
Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whos style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011)mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)music bands (Attard, 2011)Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		-
Creative collaborationsthe 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whose style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)Music bands (Attard, 2011)Music bands Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		that there is something vaguely similar with all of
Creative collaborations style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011) mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011) Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		Monster's athletes, they all seem to be part of
mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011) Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		the 'in' gang, the riders 'kids' emulate and whose
mostly recognized for supporting BMX, Supercross, and Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016) music bands (Attard, 2011) Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd	Creative collaborations	style is often copied. (Factory Jackson, 2011)
music bands (Attard, 2011) Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		
(Attard, 2011) Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		Motocross events (Zoeller, 2016)
Black can with green logotype standing out from the crowd		music bands
Product development crowd		(Attard, 2011)
		Black can with green logotype standing out from the
"I think readers will agree that as far as innovation	Product development	crowd
		"I think readers will agree that as far as innovation
and the energy drink category we're the most		and the energy drink category we're the most
innovative and we'll continue to be the most		innovative and we'll continue to be the most
innovative in the country."		innovative in the country."
Focused on becoming a leader in the double-sized		
"Strategies" energy drinks segment	"Strategies"	

r	
	giant booth near the entrance of the 2002 National
	Assn. of Convenience Stores trade show in Las Vegas.
	Years later, show-goers still recall the shock of seeing
	an attitude brand like Monster from the staid
Launch	Hansen's Natural.
	rather than go in for expensive media buys and
	corporate sponsorships of major events, Hall decided
	to focus strictly on the athletes. Together with sports
	marketing veteran Scott Sepkovic, he went
	prospecting, his pockets lined and ready. "We went to
	the X Games with \$25,000 in our pockets and signed
	people on the spot. We knew that if you show them
	the money they'd believe you." The pair made it a
	point to approach athletes who had qualified for the
	finals, ensuring that their investments would produce
	an immediate payoff in TV coverage.
	(Khermouch, 2007)
	They hired someone that the main responsible didn't
	agree with but who established a direct store delivery
	network, where the manufacturer distribute directly to
Sales channels / Distribution	the stores (instead of the stores' storage)
channels	(Khermouch, 2007)
Marketing/PR	Extreme sport events
	"Monster Girls" promoting the sports events
	Everything that we're involved in is very lifestyle
	oriented; we are obviously a very active company.
	Everything that we do and the way our presence
	is felt is lifestyle orientated,"
	(Attard, 2011)
	The Monster icon is famous in the extreme sports
	scene, being emblazoned on everything from
	snowboards to motorbikes to skateboarding
	legend Rob Dyrdek's back!
	legena ivon Dyraek s nack!

	The company is actively involved with its freestyle motocross team, performing on average 200 times a year, thrilling audiences everywhere. It's a marketing strategy that has worked extremely well, connecting the brand with consumers on a whole new level. "It's a very grassroots company; right from the beginning with our company we set out not to do any above line media, everything was pretty much back to a grassroots perspective from sampling to sponsoring a lot of events, athletes and getting our message out that way, (Attard, 2011)
	The biggest thing is we are happy to support upcoming bands that are alternatively a little bit different. We continually support and help out and I think people see it from a money perspective to get these bands on the road," says Mr Hunter. As well as funding new talent, Monster supports successful bands like Amity Affliction, Bullet For My Valentine and Deez Nuts to name a few. (Attard, 2011)
	Monster Energy puts a strong focus on sponsoring music festivals and concerts (Attard, 2011)
Control activities	trademarks Several design patents for the packaging and also a utility patent for a liquid dispenser
Control-realted issues	Chinese online stores are sued for selling counterfeit energy drinks (Godoy, 2015)

Company	MUJI
	Originally a brand developed for Seiyu
	discount department store.
Founder's background	(useful + agreeable, 2009)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Antithesis to the habits of consumer society in 1980's Japan. Either foreign luxury (increasing in popularity) or poor-quality, low-priced goods, fueling comsumption. MUJI wanted to get products to return to simply being useful and not let them mean more to the people buying them than that.
Concept Development	They aim to sell "no brand quality goods" which are as plain as possible, meaning that there could be more beauty in simplicity than in luxury (Muji.eu, n.d.; Aaker, 2010)
· · ·	Keeping prices not too high by making
	production streamlined, minimal packaging,
	sufficient materials serving their purpose.
	(Muji.eu, n.d)
	In accordance with their belief that producs
	shouldn't have logos and that people shouldn't
	be overaffectionate of their items, there are
	MUJI-products that are made of famous
Creative collaborations	designers but these are not disclosed.
	(useful + agreeable, 2009) BUT there ARE also many creative
	collaborations - Lego, asian artists, Tokyo
	Metropolitan Government, THONET
	(manufacturer of German furniture classics)
	etc.
	(Bobb, 2015; Archer, 2009; Eunheejo.com,
	n.d.; Muji.de, n.d.)
	MUJI also expands to other sectors through
	collaborations, for example to architecture by
	collaborating with Japan's housing agency to
	rearrange Danchi apartments (making them
	open-plan) and to the car industry by
	collaborating with Nissan
	(Knight, 2015; Just-auto.com, 2001)

	MUJI also has three campgrounds in Japan
Product development	(Aaker, 2010)
	Restaurant in connection to its store
	(Low, 2015) эпорріпу ас милі апи изіпу милі ргоциссь
	make a forceful statement about who you
	are. You are above looking for badge
	brands. You are, rather, a rational person
	interested in the right values, and you
	choose to connect with a firm that is
	interested in promoting social good and
	satisfaction from life.
"Strategies"	(Aaker, 2010)
	Originally a brand developed for Seiyu
	discount department store.
Launch	(useful + agreeable, 2009)
	Stores in shopping centers, online sales and
Sales channels / Distribution	historically catalogues
channels	(useful + agreeable, 2009; Low, 2015)
	Very little marketing. The catalogue has been
	the "only" marketing.
Marketing/PR	(useful + agreeable, 2009)
Control activities	trademarks
	utility patents
	there's has even been a counterfeit outlet
	store chain in China, which - although
	counterfeiting the original Muji - owns the
	trademark in China and therefore prevents the
	original Muji from entering the Chinese market
	(Sanchanta, 2005)

Company	Pure Fix Cycles
	Childhood friends, computer skills, family with
	experience in import-export, entrepreneurship
Founder's background	course (Burke, n.d.)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Based on their own need: They wanted a
	good-looking but cheaper bike. Removed
Concept Development	the expensive gears. (Daley, 2013)
	"Cycling at its purest" means simplicity and
	efficiency for Pure Fix and that goes for both
	the products and business model: meaning that
	all unncesseary aspects are cut out, such as
	middle-men between production and buyer,
	online-based product deveoplemnt and
	production and no extra features on the
	bikes. (Pure Fix Cycles, n.d.)
	Seeing that the bike does good both for
	environment and health, they emphasize this
	by donating to charity (Pure Fix Cycles, n.d.)
	"Cycling at its purest", summing up simplicity
	and efficiency (Pure Fix Cycles, n.d.)
	Water Charity organization (Pure Fix Cycles,
Creative collaborations	n.d.)
	Simple design in many different color variations
Product development	and models (Pure Fix Cycles, n.d.)
	"Because we're smaller, we're able to innovate
	faster. We can switch our manufacturing
	process and come out with something new
	almost immediately," (Daley, 2013)
"Stratogios"	Grew organically: Started small, doubled each
"Strategies"	order (Daley, 2013)
	Hired their president (Daley, 2013)
	Bike-stores are allowed to buy small batches - with the mindset that any business is good
	business (Daley, 2013)
	Grew organically: Started small and expected
	to sell over a long time, but the bikes sold out
Launch	quickly (Daley, 2013)
Sales channels / Distribution	
channels	Online (Daley, 2013)

	Usually with bicycles there's a distribution
	chain, with large companies purchasing
	from manufacturers and selling to
	distributors," Schau explains. "By acting as
	our own distributor and supplier, we're able
	to have an affordable product right off the
	bat." (Daley, 2013)
	unlike larger bike companies, Pure Fix has
	no minimum order, which allows smaller
	shops to take a chance on them. "We'll do
	anything to keep business, and that's gone
	a long way for us." (Daley, 2013)
	USA and abroad (Hall, 2014)
Control activities	trademarks

Company	Renee Voltaire
	Already a "name". Restaurant and bakery
	"chain" owner, chef sommelier, cook book writer,
	restaurant/yoga house owner etc. (André, 2014;
Founder's background	Holmlund, 2013)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
Concept Development	"brown rice in high heels" (Rosell, 2010)
	Took inspiration from her own trips to a raw food
	health center in Arizona (André, 2014)
	Renée Voltaire is the "spokesperson" of the
Creative collaborations	brand. (Reneevoltaire.se, n.d.)
	The products are expensive since they're made
	with highest quality ingredients and time taking
Product development	procedures. (Holmlund, 2013)
	She wanted to reach the food channels but
	when they didn't want t sell her products, she
	contacted the store owners directly and started
"Strategies"	selling to the stores that way. (Holmlund, 2013)
	Learned along the way and re-invested the
	money into new batches (Holmlund, 2013)
	"Renée was serving juices for an event at NK
	and was requested by an NK manager to offer
	products for them to sell. Had 2 weeks to deliver
	and manufactured the products in her own
Launch	kitchen. (André, 2014; Holmlund, 2013)
	supermarkets, pharmacies, own store, health
Sales channels / Distribution	stores, sports stores etc. (Reneevoltaire.se,
channels	n.d.)
	No advertising in the classic
Marketing/PR	channels. (Reneevoltaire.se, n.d.)
Control activities	trademarks

Company	SoulCycle
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
	The names of the classes: Soul Warrior etc.
Irrelevant attribute	(Soul-cycle.com, n.d.)
	The idea sprung from their own wish to find a
	workout that wasn't just effective but also truly
	fun and enjoyable. They had started to think
	about this independently and then had a lunch
	to discuss it. From that, they rented a studio
	and opened four and a half months later.
Concept Development	(Patch.com, 2013)
	SoulCycle is supposed to feel like a community
	for its members
	(Pathak, 2015; Cummings, 2015)
	Has teamed up with Target for a pop-up
	studio free classes
Creative collaborations	(A Bullseye View, 2016; (Soul-cycle.com,
	They try to listen as much as possible to their
	customers when they develop their concept
Product development	(Patch.com, 2013; Cummings, 2015)
	The instructors become celebrities within the
	SoulCycle community and through Social
	Media and website you can find more
	information about them and their take on
	fitness, e.g. meal plans and playlists
	(Cummings, 2015; Pathak, 2015)
	Front row has become a status symbol and
	the people there are expected to perform
	very well. It has become something to strive
	for, and requires you to take classes in
	order to master the moves. Sometimes the
	instructors appoint these front row cyclists,
	asking them to take a row further back.
	(Lepore, 2015; Rubin, 2015)
	They' started by opening one studios, then
	more studios and were also bought by gym
"Strategies"	chain Equinox
	They started with one studio in New York.
Launch	(Soul-cycle.com, n.d.)
Sales channels / Distribution	Own gym & Equinox chain
channels	(Soul-cycle.com, n.d.)

	they want to create experiences, since
	that's what SoulCycle is all about. For
	example, when opening a new studio, they
	invited both influencers and local people in
	order to spread the word and get people to
	experience the classes.
Marketing/PR	(Patch.com, 2013)
	They've also used merch such as T-shirts as a
	way to ge their memebers to be "walking
	billboards".
	Members are promoted online in so-called Soul
	Stories to tell about their transformed lives from
	SoulCycle
	They are a lifestyle brand so their affectionate
	members are basically doing the marketing
	(Cummings, 2015)
	SoulCycle also gets PR from the celebrities that
	go to the classes
Control activities	trademarks
	there are many similar studios (Battan,
Control-related issues	2014; Held, 2013)

Company	the art of shaving
	arometherapy, holistic medicine, spa industry,
	finanscial consultant for a men's
	cosmetics/perfume distrubutor (Pennington,
Founder's background	2005; Sephora, n.d.)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	_
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Shaving turned into a ritual instead of a
Concept Development	habit (Lindsay, 2006)
	The four steps of shaving (Lindsay, 2006; The
	Art of Shaving, n.d.)
	There's a nostalgic feel to the entire
	concept (Lindsay, 2006)
<u> </u>	Sprung from their own need for a non-irritating
	shaving experience (Newman, 2010)
	The Satorialist (street fashion fotographer) had
	a gallery show, showcasing men in Chelsea and
	their way of grooming, to launch The Art Of
Creative collaborations	Shaving's The Chelsea Collection (Levin, 2013)
	After having cooked up a shaving oil, they
	started a store offering shaves (Pennington,
Product development	2005; Sephora, n.d.)
	After having opened two shops they begun
	selling their products (Sephora, n.d.)
	Compatibility with regular razor blades from
	Gillette (Esquire, 2007)
	Just as in cosmetics stores, the staff can
	educate the customers on how to solve their
"Strategies"	shaving problems. (Lindsay, 2006)
	An article about them, published in The New
	York Times led to an increased amount of
Launch	customers to their store (Sephora, n.d.)
	The products were launched when their
	reputation was already well-
	established (Sephora, n.d.)
	Sold in their own stores, at retailers like
	Neiman Marcus, and
	online https://www.entrepreneur.com/article/
Sales channels / Distribution	77746 (Pennington, 2005;
channels	Theartofshaving.com, n.d.)
	An article about them, published in The New
	York Times led to an increased amount of
Marketing/PR	customers to their store (Sephora, n.d.)

	They published a book on the subject of
	shaving (Sephora, n.d.)
	4 steps of shaving method (Grill, 2014;
	Lindsay, 2006; The Art of Shaving, n.d.)
	Starter kits to get new customers to try out the
	products (Grill, 2014)
	The brotherhood of shaving - the brand's
	newsletter with member offers, expert advice
	etc (Theartofshaving.com, n.d.; Grill, 2014)
Control activities	trademarks
	There are counterfeit products
Control-related issues	(Amazon.com, 2012, 2016)

Company	The Laundress
	Gwen Whiting and Lindsey Boyd: Educational
	background in Design, Fiber Science, Textile &
	Apparel Management, carreers in the high-end
	fashion industry. Own T-shirt brand. (The
Founder's background	Laundress, n.d.)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	
Irrelevant attribute	
	Luxury eco-friendly detergent with special
	formula for each delicate fabric, decreasing the
	dry-cleaning bills in a time where people's
	economy was pressured. (SmartCEO, 2014;
Concept Development	
Concept Development	The Laundress, n.d.)
	Grew from their own annoyment with dry cleaning-bills and clothes that too quickly begun
	to look worn-out (Le Mystère, 2014) Le Labo for scenting the detergents (Breslin,
Creative collaborations	2012; The Laundress, n.d.)
	J.Crew - soap for collars and shirt cuffs,
	· ·
	cashmere detergent with J.Crew's name and a
	sweater comb (Breslin, 2012; J.Crew, n.d.; The
	Laundress Blog, 2015)
	A range of 65 products, each detergent is
Product development	specialized for a certain task or fabric (Mau,
Product development	2015; The Laundress, n.d.) Extended product range to also include storage
	products, tools, kits, candles etc. (The
	Laundress, n.d.) Physical store for increasing awareness, (Mau,
"Strategies"	2015)
Strategies	Close relationship with their customers who can
	post questions about cleaning (SmartCEO,
	2014)
	did a trade show and got featured in New York
Launch	Times (Mau, 2015)
	used their network from the fashion
	industry, started with clients like Bergdorf
	Goodman (Mau, 2015)
L	Own store, online and high end-stores and
Sales channels / Distribution	warehouses like Bergdorf Goodman and
channels	Gracious Home (Mau, 2015)
	The flagship store is a strong brand-builder,
Marketing/PR	offering expert advice on laundry (Wolff, 2015)
Marketing/PR Control activities	trademarks
	There seem to be counterfeit products
Control-related issues	(Amazon.com, 2014)

Company	TOMS
	entrepreneur, reality show participant
Founder's background	(Chu, 2013; Montague, 2013)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	One for one business model: Buy a pair of
	shoes and one pair will be given for free to a
	child in need
Concept Development	(Toms.com, n.d.)
	Tyler Ramsey (artist) lived in a glass box
	outside Toms store and painted shoes on
	demand while everything was livestreamed on
	Google Hangouts.
Creative collaborations	(Schwartz, 2013)
	The shoes' design is a traditional shoe in
	Argentine
Product development	(Chu, 2013)
	Expanding the BM to other products than
	shoes, for example eyewear, backpacks etc
	(Montague, 2013; Toms.com, n.d.)
	Limited editions
	(Chu, 2013)
	Expanding the BM to other products than
	shoes, for example eyewear
"Strategies"	(Chu, 2013; Montague, 2013)
	Set up a shop. With the unusual but wearable
	design and the great story behind it, it got
	popular among people in the fashion and
	entertainment business
Launch	(Chu, 2013)
	Articles in fashion magazines followed
	(Chu, 2013)
Sales channels / Distribution	retailers - the biggest being Nordstroms, online
channels	(Chu, 2013)

	Word of mouth
Marketing/PR	(Montague, 2013)
	The founder published a book, establishing
	himself as the spokesperson for the one for one
	ВМ
	The story about how the idea of Toms was
	created (the founder traveled in Argentina and
	was upset on how many children didn't have
	shoes and how that would also limit their ability
	to get education as they weren't allowed into
	the schools barefoot)
	(Chu, 2013; Montague, 2013)
	Brand ambassadors like Charlize Theron and
	Ben Afflek
	Influencers that originally have embraced the
	brand themselves (and now have become
	influencers that are given products)
	(Chu, 2013)
	trademarks including trade dress protection
Control activities	(for eye glass frames)
	Skechers made a copy of the shoes
	associated with TOMs and copied their one
	for one business model, calling their
	concept BOBs, and selling the shoes for a
	slightly lower price. (Poisuo, 2012; wikiHow,
Control-related issues	n.d.)

Company	Urban Ears
	Design-related career for 30 years. Konrad
	Bergström has previously launched about 30
	brands on the Swedish market such as
	snowboarding brands Burton and Quicksilver.
Founder's background	(Alestig, 2013)
	few - if any ornaments
Design attributes other than	single-colored headphones
logotypes and labels	(Urbanears official website, n.d.)
Irrelevant attribute	-
	In 2005, headphones still only solved a
	functional need. at that time, colorful
	headphones was an unusual idea and Konrad
	understood it would be the next big
	thing.Consumption of music was increasing and
	there was a need for designed headphones
Concept Development	enhancing ones identity. (Nilsson, 2014)
	The model Plattan, which is the best sold
	model, has probably been updated 40 times
	since its original launch. Initially they sold
	some batches that they aren't very proud of
	today.
Product development	(Bosson, 2013)
	Although they had many ideas and projects
	they wanted to carry out, it was important to
	start with the cash cow among the products
	(Bosson, 2013)
	"why would we only sell in Sweden?" If a
	procudt is conceptualized and packaged in the
	right way from start, you might as well start
"Strategies"	globally.(Nilsson, 2014)
	It was important to start the production before
	any competitor. Instead of working forewer on
	perfecting thetechnology and sound qualitythey
Launch	focused on design.(Nilsson, 2014)
	Manufacturing is located in Shenzen in China
Cales sharpels / Distribution	where they have 18 employees. The products
Sales channels / Distribution	are distributed to the retailers from the factory.
channels	(Nilsson, 2014)
	online (Nilsson, 2014)
	consumer electronics retail chains (Nilsson,
	2014)

	sports gear retailers (Nilsson, 2014)
Control activities	trademarks and utility patents
	In order not to lose customers to
	competitors, Urban Ears has created
	another brand, which is similar to Urban
	Ears but cheaper. (Bosson, 2013; Nilsson,
	2014)
	Initially the copies made Urban Ears a bit
	proud. Now, in order to win over their
	competitors they focus on marketing and
	product development: quality, sound and
	usability. (Bosson, 2013)
	Although the headphones are copyright
	protected, the protection wasn't strong
	enough to prevent a competitor's similar
Control-related issues	design (Löfgren, 2013).

Company	Voss
Design attributes other than	cylindrical bottle
logotypes and labels	(Vosswater.com, n.d.)
	Artesian water from Norway
Irrelevant attribute	(Vosswater.com, n.d.)
	Whenever Ole came to visit Christopher in San
	Francisco or Christopher returned to Norway,
	the first thing Christopher requested was
	Norwegian water. It was then that they knew
	they wanted to share Norway fresh water with
	the rest of the world "VOSS"
Concept Development	(Voss World, 2012)
• •	They set out in 1998 to create a revolutionary
	bottled water brand that would stand out in the
	large but homogenous and competitive
	landscape of the global bottled water market.
	In particular, the ultra-premium segment offered
	opportunities for a chic and sophisticated
	brand to distinguish itself and appeal to a
	broad range of consumers worldwide at an
	elevated price point, creating an attractive
	proposition for customers in multiple channels
	and geographies.
	(Voss World, 2012)
	NORWEGIAN artesian water. Similar to FIJI
	water in the aspect of referring to a place that
	seems "untouched". Norway is home to some of
	the purest spring and artesian water on the
	earth. Ole Christian Sandberg and Christopher
	Harlem, wanted to provide the world with "the
	highest quality water, to the highest accounts, in
	the highest-quality package."
	(Voss World, 2012)
	But the target audience for these brands will
	continue to be people who can afford to pay a
	premium price for premium water.
	(Voss World, 2012)
	To design the bottle, they turned to Neil Kraft, a
	former creative director for Calvin Klein. Kraft
	and his team took their inspiration from
Creative colleborations	fragrance-industry designers who use
Creative collaborations	personality and packaging to define a brand. "highest-quality package." "a new way to think
Product development	about water. Beyond refreshingto beautiful."
Product development	(Voss World, 2012)

	the third part first serves in
	the third part [first: norwegian water (?),
	second: the bottle (?)] of its brand strategy:
	limiting distribution of VOSS exclusively to
	upscale establishments such as fine
	restaurants, hotels, clubs, and spas, first in
	Europe and eventually in the US.
"Strategies"	(Voss World, 2012)
	Over the next several years, the Company
	developed a leading on-premise channel
	platform [on-premise = direct consumption,
	suchas a hotel restaurant instead of a grocery
	storer] in the U.S. and in many other
	countries, and established its ultra-premium
	brand equity by partnering with some of the
	most prestigious hotel and restaurant accounts
Sales channels / Distribution	in the world.
channels	(Voss World, 2012)
	while the distribution strategy for most super-
	premium waters is still through hotels, clubs,
	and the like, VOSS and several of the other
	brands have taken a new tact. Now they are
	selectively distributing their products via
	upscale retail channels to make them more
	widely available.
	(Voss World, 2012)
	VOSS quickly became a significant player in
	the market, helped along by its trendy bottle
	being seen in the hands of worldwide
	celebrities. (Apparently, Madonna took a
	liking to it.)
Marketing/PR	(Voss World, 2012)
Control activities	trademarks including trade dress protection
	They've sued a Liquor company, with VOSS
	claiming their rights to their bottle, which
	was trade mark protected (Jhrlegal.com,
Control-related issues	2013)
	VOSS has now lost their registered 3D
	mark for their bottle after another liquor
	company questioning its distinctive
	character (after it had been sued). The
	companies reached a settlement.
	(Novagraaf.com, 2013; Slind-Flor, 2015)

Company	WelleCo
	co-founder Elle Macpherson: Supermodel,
Founder's background	lingerie brand owner (Welleco.com, n.d.)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	The super elixir (Welleco.com, n.d.)
	Alkalizing health supplements packaged in
	beautiful caddies, sold as beauty products in
	luxury stores (and online stores) (NET-A-
Concept Development	PORTER, n.d.; Welleco.com, n.d.)
	Elle Macpherson - known for her great figure - is
	the spokesperson for and co-founder of the
Creative collaborations	brand (Welleco.com, n.d.)
	The supplements are sold in expensive but
	beautiful ceramic caddies, making them feel
Product development	luxurious (Welleco.com, n.d.)
	Other wellness products (Welleco.com, n.d.)
	New flavors (Welleco.com, n.d.)
	The supplements, claimed to improve skin,
	aren't sold as supplements but instead as
	beauty products, sold in the beauty
	departments of high-end fashion stores and
	online. (Earle-Levine, 2014; Sinks, 2015; NET-A-
"Strategies"	PORTER, n.d.; Young, 2014)
	The brand's products are a part of trendy
	but disputed (and celebrity-supported)
	alkaline diet (Ambrose, 2015)
	Launched at Selfridges, with a Q&A with Elle
	Macpherson livestreamed on youtube and
Launch	Google Hangouts (The Beauty Shortlist, 2014)
	Sold online, in the brand's store and in high-
Sales channels / Distribution	end department stores,
channels	Wholefoods (Welleco.com, n.d.)
	Sold in the beauty department (Earle-Levine,
	2014; Sinks, 2015; NET-A-PORTER, n.d.;
	Young, 2014)
	Because of the co-founder Elle
	Macpherson's celebrity status, the brand
Marketing/PR	gets a lot of coverage in media. (Allen, n.d.)
	Many stars are praising the product as
	well (Allen, n.d.)
Control-activities	trademarks

Company	Zumba
	Fitness instructor, entrepreneurs (Zumba.tlw.hu,
Founder's background	n.d.)
Design attributes other than	
logotypes and labels	-
Irrelevant attribute	-
	Franchize business for fitness classes with a
Concept Development	dance party vibe (Giang, 2012)
	As Zumba is supposed to have a low treshold
	for starting working out it has a very broad fan
	base (Buchanan, 2012)
	Artists like Wyclef Jean and Pitbull collaborate
	with Zumba for including their music in the
	Zumba fitness routines (Buchanan, 2012;
Creative collaborations	Giang, 2012)
	Nintendo Wii for developing a Zumba
	game (Nintendo.com, 2010)
	Training DVD:s have developed into a franchise
	for instructors to offer classes at gyms and
Product development	studios (BizeeBee, 2012; Giang, 2012)
•	Merchandize apparel has become a big part of
	the business (Giang, 2012)
	Events such as fitness concerts (Nintendo.com,
	2010; Zumba.com, n.d.)
	Initially a workout DVD, Zumba noticed a
	demand for real-life classes and started a
	franchize for training instructors, establishing
	Zumba as a lifestyle brand with merchandize
	clothing and music, which all have become
	large businesses in themselves (BizeeBee,
"Strategies"	2012; Buchanan, 2012; Giang, 2012)
	Zumba was launched as a workout DVD which
	was sold through late-night infomercials on
Launch	TV. (Giang, 2012)
	People called in, not to get the DVD but to ask
	for where to find a class and how to become an
	instructor, which led to Zumba Academy where
	people are trained to become certified Zumba
	instructors (Giang, 2012)
	The classes were introduced at individual
	studios and gyms since the chains weren't
	interested at first (Giang, 2012)

	Individual studios and gyms, large gym chains,
Sales channels / Distribution	online, apps (Buchanan, 2012; Giang, 2012;
channels	Zumba.com, n.d.)
	Initially marketed in a TV infomercial (Giang,
Marketing/PR	2012)
	The franchizees market themselves but are only
	allowed to use the Zumba trademarks if paying
	a monthly fee (BizeeBee, 2012; Zumba.com,
	n.d.)
Control activities	trademarks and service marks
	Zumba has a large in-house legal
	department. (Buchanan, 2012)
	They've tried to benefit from the large
	amount of counterfeited training DVD:s by
	adding messages on packaging and during
	the video about going to a real-life
	class. (Buchanan, 2012)
	Design patents for Zumba activewear
	A lot of infringement and violations,
	especially license agreement violations and
Control-related issues	unauthorized instructors (Buchanan, 2012)